

New developments in green biotechnology – an inventory for RIVM

C.C.M. (Clemens) van de Wiel, M.J.M. (René) Smulders, R.G.F. (Richard) Visser, J.G. (Jan) Schaart

Wageningen UR Plant Breeding, Wageningen UR, Wageningen

June 2016

New developments in green biotechnology – an inventory for RIVM

© 2016 Wageningen, Foundation Stichting Dienst Landbouwkundig Onderzoek (DLO) research institute Praktijkonderzoek Plant & Omgeving/Plant Research International. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the DLO, research institute Praktijkonderzoek Plant & Omgeving/Plant Research International.

The Foundation DLO is not responsible for any damage caused by using the content of this report.

Acknowledgements

We thank Tim Lohmann (Plantum), Irma Vijn (HollandBIO), and Michiel de Both and Marjan Frik (KeyGene) for interviews. We thank Ben Vosman and Anne-Marie Wolters (Wageningen UR Plant Breeding) for discussions on new plant breeding techniques.

This report was commissioned by RIVM. We thank the members of the advisory committee: Guido van den Ackerveken (Utrecht University), Boet Glandorf (RIVM/BGGO), Marco Gielkens (RIVM/VSP), Petra Hogervorst (RIVM/VSP) and Julie Ng-A-Tham (Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment).

Wageningen UR

Adres: P.O. Box 16, 6700 AA Wageningen

Wageningen Campus, Droevendaalsesteeg 1, 6708 PB Wageningen

Tel.: +31 317 48 10 36

Mail: jan.schaart@wur.nl

Internet: <u>www.plantbreeding.wur.nl</u>

DOI: 10.18174/385481

The electronic version of this report can be accessed through http://dx.doi.org/10.18174/385481

Table of contents

| 1. | Executive summary | 7 |
|-----------------|--|----|
| 2. | Introduction | 10 |
| 3. | Method description and list of techniques | 11 |
| 4. | Techniques | 14 |
| 4.1. | Genome editing using oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis (ODM) | 14 |
| 4.2. joining | Genome editing using sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): non-homologous end (NHEJ pathway) | 16 |
| 4.3. recom | Genome editing using sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): homologous bination (HR) pathway | 18 |
| 4.4. | Plant transformation with transgenes not in end product | 20 |
| 4.5. | Plant transformation introducing genes from cross-compatible species | 22 |
| 4.6. | RNAi – post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) | 24 |
| 4.7. | RNAi – transcriptional gene silencing (TGS) | 26 |
| 4.8. | Synthetic biology | 28 |
| 4.9. | Modifying gene expression with exogenous compounds | 30 |
| 4.10. | Regenerating a species hybrid from a graft junction | 31 |
| 5. | Discussion and conclusions | 32 |
| 6. | Abbreviations | 42 |
| 7. | References | 43 |
| 8. | Annex | 48 |

1. Executive summary

This study is an exploration of developments in "green" (plant) biotechnology for the purpose of policy development and updating risk assessment of GMOs and biotechnology in general in the Netherlands. The study is based on a literature review and interviews with stakeholders. The developments encompass both novel techniques such as genome editing and new concepts or applications for already established techniques such as plant transformation (transgenic plants). Intended and unintended effects are discussed, but risk assessment and regulatory issues are not, since they are out of the scope of this inventory.

The overview of developments in plant biotechnology is presented as a listing of techniques and/or concepts (see Table 1):

- Genome editing generates mutations in specifically targeted genomic sequences, such as genes
 or gene promoters. This can be performed by introducing sequence-specific oligo nucleotides
 into plant cells (protoplasts) in oligo-directed mutagenesis (ODM). Alternatively, sequencespecific nucleases (SSNs) are used that make double-strand breaks followed by repair (nonhomologous end-joining NHEJ) leading to local changes in the sequence. The presently most
 notable SSN is CRISPR-Cas. The SSNs can also be used for introduction of larger sequences,
 including genes or alleles, by using a homologous recombination (HR) repair mechanism.
- Alternative uses of classical transformation technology: Using transgenic plant lines without the transgene becoming part of the final plant product can for instance be applied to speed up breeding in crops with long generation times, e.g. trees that only start flowering a few years after seed germination. Transgenic lines that start flowering in their first year are used to speed up a crossing scheme to introduce new traits into elite plant material. By selecting against the transgene during the final crossing steps, a plant product (variety) is obtained that does not contain the transgene anymore. These are also called "null segregants". Such methods can also be applied in various forms in hybrid variety breeding. Cisgenesis and intragenesis, which are concepts of classical transformation using only genes from cross-compatible species are also considered in this study.
- RNAi (RNA interference) targets specific genomic sequences as in genome editing, but in this
 case genes are silenced using RNA interference constructs. This can be applied in two ways: (I)
 by generating small RNAs directed at specific mRNAs inhibiting their translation into proteins
 (post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS)); or (II) by generating small RNAs directed at
 specific gene promoters effecting DNA methylation in turn leading to silencing of gene
 transcription of mRNA (transcriptional gene silencing (TGS), also designated as RNA-directed
 DNA methylation (RdDM).
- Synthetic biology involves creating plant parts by design, such as artificial chromosomes. It is not always clearly defined. In this inventory, we have discussed novel metabolic pathways based on classical plant transformation in this category.
- We briefly discuss remaining categories of external compounds directing gene expression and an additional development in grafted plants.

There are many cross-connections among these techniques and concepts that are shown in an alternative scheme in Table 2. The scheme is based on the way transgenic constructs are used: plants with stable transgene insertion(s) into their genome (e.g. RNAi, particularly PTGS), with initial transgene insertion, but followed by subsequent removal of the transgenic constructs (e.g. the early flowering), and transient expression (no insertion of transgenes into the genome) or introducing only (ribo)proteins or RNA into the plant cell for changing traits by genome editing (DNA-free genome editing).

Genome editing and RNAi target existing ("native") plant genes. An exception is the application of genome editing by homologous recombination (HR) using "foreign" sequences as template. ODM can produce gene knock-outs and small changes of one amino acid. Genome editing using SSNs following the non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway will mainly produce gene knock-outs and genome editing by HR enables to produce precise changes, from small sequence changes up to complete allelic or (novel) gene sequences. With RNAi, gene knock-downs are produced by silencing the expression of native genes, but as opposed to genome editing knock-outs, they will inherit dominantly, as long as the silencing (RNAi-) construct is present in the plant line. This means that the trait is always effective (also at a heterozygous state), as opposed to gene knock-outs that are only expressed in a homozygous (recessive

state), i.e. with all alleles of a gene being defective in expression. Silencing using RNAi will often not be absolute, but this may be advantageous for traits where complete knocking out of the gene function has undesirable side effects. Among these traits, an interesting example is resistance to insects or pathogens through "cross-kingdom" RNAi, i.e. post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) by a transgenic construct targeting gene sequences of the pathogen or pest, also called host-induced gene silencing (HIGS). It represents a novel type of trait, though exchange of small RNAs between organisms is an existing phenomenon. Enabling technologies of next generation sequencing (NGS) and bioinformatics will increase the ability to find target organism-specific sequences. These enabling technologies are also helpful with the other techniques, for example by identifying genes interesting for changing expression by genome editing or RNAi, or for targeted introduction by e.g. SSN - HR.

As in classical plant transformation, in the new developments of green biotechnology, intended and unintended effects will largely depend on the type of new trait introduced or generated and so will vary from case to case. Most techniques enable changing a wide variety of traits, for instance, abiotic stress tolerances (e.g. for drought or salt), disease resistances (e.g. against bacteria or fungi) or metabolic changes underlying product quality.

Depending on the specific SSN variant, off-target mutations (unintended modifications at other chromosomal locations) may occur to a certain extent. For CRISPR-Cas9, improvements have been made in order to reduce the off-target effects. In addition, such effects could now be identified more efficiently using the enabling technologies of NGS and bioinformatics. Likewise with RNAi, off-target silencing also appears to be possible. Nevertheless, genome editing (and for that matter, gene silencing) is expected to be basically more precise than "classical" mutagenesis as it is targeted at specific sequences in the genome. "Classical" mutagenesis induces multiple random mutations in the genome among which the trait of interest needs to be selected and subsequent plant breeding is used to apply extensive phenotypic and increasingly genotypic testing for selecting elite materials for commercialization.

Drivers behind many of the new techniques or concepts discussed in this report appear to be of a dualistic nature. From a technical point of view, they primarily aim at improving the efficiency and/or precision of breeding, but the possibility of simplifying regulatory oversight is also of relevance, in that they mostly avoid the presence of transgenes in the final plant product (cf. Table 2). In particular examples, such as early flowering for faster crossing schemes, removing the transgenic construct is also an essential part of the technique as the expression of genes that are present on the transgenic construct is unwanted in the final plant product. As a result of both drivers, unintended effects associated with plant transformation will be minimized. For SSN-based genome editing techniques there is even an alternative to avoid inserting a transgenic construct into the genome: employing transient expression of the construct encoding the SSN in protoplasts or introducing mRNAs coding for the SSN proteins or the SSN proteins and/or gRNAs directly into protoplasts ("DNA-free" genome editing). For the "null segregant" approaches, including those in RNAi (e.g. RdDM), an alternative is introducing expression constructs through virus vectors that will not end up in the progeny as they are not transmitted during seed formation.

Predictions on future developments in green biotechnology are accompanied by uncertainty or can be incomplete, as exemplified by the recent rise of CRISPR-Cas, which was unknown as a genome editing tool in plants just five years ago. As already seen in classical plant transformation (transgenic plants), promising applications need to go through the stringent process - basic to all innovations - of achieving commercial viability, including competition with alternative approaches. For instance, amongst others, "cross-kingdom" RNAi may have to compete with alternative modes of application using sprays containing the interfering RNAs. A practical problem with predicting the likelihood of development into commercial products is the barrier perceived in their regulatory status as a GM or not. The costs and/or uncertainty around the consequences of regulation are perceived as such a burden that breeders will likely not use novel technologies commercially when they would fall under present GM regulation or as long as there is uncertainty about this in the EU. In an attempt to be still informative, Table 3 presents an overview of the techniques with an attempt to depict the horizon of applications, disregarding the expected impact of regulation in the EU as far as possible. The most likely techniques to show strong developments in the near future are the genome editing techniques, in particular CRISPR-Cas9. The HR variant could be most precise and versatile but is still technically demanding in plants. The "null segregant" concepts are promising for accelerating the breeding process and for several processes underlying production of hybrid seed varieties. Some RNAi applications are already on the market outside of the EU and others may become relevant in the near future, e.g. "cross-kingdom" RNAi (HIGS) with an insect example recently deregulated in the US. But others, e.g. transcriptional gene silencing TGS (based on RNA-dependent DNA methylation RdDM), at least in their variant of the end product not containing the transgenic silencing construct, are still awaiting effective examples. Applications in metabolic engineering may become relevant soon, particularly in bio-fortification and bio-based economy, and for producing pharmaceuticals.

2. Introduction

This study entails an exploration of developments in "green" biotechnology, alongside other such inventories for the "white" (industrial) and "red" (medicinal) biotechnology executed by other research teams, for the purpose of policy development and updating risk assessment of GMOs and products of biotechnology in general in the Netherlands. The development that drew most attention in plant biotechnology in recent years has been the introduction of various novel technologies aiming at improving the precision of introduced changes in the plant genome and/or the efficiency of plant breeding. At the same time, some of these technologies raised questions as to how to define their products with regard to the existing definitions of a genetically modified organism (see the list in Lusser et al. 2012). These technologies comprised new tools, such as targeted genome editing, as well as new concepts, such as the use of transformed plants to improve the efficiency of the breeding process without transgene(s) being present in the final plant product. However, the ongoing expansion of plant biotechnology covers more than these techniques. There are also interesting developments in "classical" genetic modification (plant transformation), such as the application of RNAi (RNA interference) for the control of pests and pathogens. In addition, enabling technologies, particularly a rapid succession of generations of DNA sequencing technology combined with bioinformatics, are quickly expanding the knowledge of plant genomes, which in turn helps in refining the technologies modifying genomes. In addition, the end products of new technologies, such as genome editing¹, can be screened more extensively for the presence of any off-target effects. Moreover, sequencing opens up new ways of screening for useful genetic variation, which drives technological developments regarding how to make use of such variation as quickly and effectively as possible.

For the purposes of this inventory, we address techniques and concepts aimed at changing genomes and gene expression in higher (crop) plants in a heritable fashion. We will also briefly mention other methods affecting gene expression, e.g. application of various types of non-coding RNA without transformation, but only for comparison to similar processes enabled by genomic changes. Enabling technologies will be mentioned in so far as they may play a role as driver in the developments that form the primary subject of this inventory. We will describe most extensively the techniques for applications that will be found to be probably closest to marketable plant products. We will discuss the intended and unintended effects reported for the respective techniques, but risk assessment and legal issues are out of the scope of this inventory. Nevertheless, regulatory issues will be mentioned as they are often cited as barriers to commercial application of techniques. Thus, for each technique or concept, we will give (I) a technical description; (II) an overview of host effects, intended and unintended; (III) areas of application; (IV) barriers and drivers for further development of the technique/concept in the EU; (V) the horizon, i.e. what products are to be expected in the near future in the EU.

-

¹ Some authors prefer "gene editing" as the edits concern particular sites and not the entire genome

3. Method description and list of techniques

This exploration encompasses in the first place a literature review. We scanned the primary scientific literature using terms for the new technologies (see Table 1) in combinations with (un)intended or off-target effects, and additionally consulted review journals addressing plant biotechnology for obtaining an overview of any new developments. Next to this, we consulted plant breeding colleagues and companies. For the consultation of companies, we used a list of techniques/developments possibly relevant for product development and asked each of them to what extent they would lead to marketable products in the short and medium term. We also asked about drivers and barriers for each of the techniques and whether they foresee any other new development that was not yet on the list. The list of techniques and developments as used in the interviews and the interview questions are in the annex. Due to time limitations, we interviewed two sector organizations, Plantum and HollandBio, which in turn consulted their members, among which large companies and SMEs in vegetable, arable and ornamental crops, and one plant technology developer, KeyGene. The interview results were used anonymously in this report.

The focus of this inventory was on higher (crop) plants. The highly diverse algae, including the green algae that are most closely related to higher plants, are nowadays receiving more attention for bio-based economy purposes, but they were not part of this study. Also (plant) pest control through genetic modification of the target (pest) organisms themselves was outside the scope of this study.

Table 1. List of new techniques and/or developments in plant ("green") biotechnology.

| Theme | Techniques | Mode of action/examples | Special |
|---|---|--|---|
| Genome editing | Oligo-directed mutagenesis (ODM) | inducing site-specific changes in the DNA using oligonucleotides with mismatches as template: indels, nucleotide substitutions | |
| Genome editing | Sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): non- homologous end joining (NHEJ) | inducing site-specific double strand breaks (DSBs) resulting in homologous-independent DNA repair by NHEJ using SSNs (ZFN, Meganuclease, TALENS, CRISPR-Cas9): indels, nucleotide substitutions | variant: "DNA-free" genome editing by transient expression or delivery of (ribonucleo)protein or mRNA in cells |
| Genome editing | Sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): homologous recombination (HR) | inducing site-specific double strand breaks (DSBs) resulting in homologous-driven repair by HR using SSNs: targeted gene insertion, allele replacement | |
| Plant transformation (new variants) | Plant transformation with transgenes not in end product | Induced early flowering for accelerated breeding in fruit trees; Suppression of meiotic recombination (reverse breeding), maintainer lines, or haploid inducers for hybrid breeding; transgenic rootstocks | |
| Plant transformation (new variants) | Plant transformation introducing genes from cross-compatible species | Cisgenesis: introduction of genes from same or cross-compatible species Intragenesis: introduction of novel combinations of genes & promoters from same or cross-compatible species | |
| RNAi | Post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) | overexpression of gene-derived inverted repeats (dsRNA) for silencing gene expression: degradation of mRNA or translational repression directed by siRNAs or miRNAs | "Cross-kingdom RNAi": RNAi against pests and pathogens (host induced gene silencing HIGS) Special variants using transformed rootstock to deliver siRNA to non-GM scion |

| RNAi | Transcriptional gene silencing (TGS) | • | gene silencing by promoter methylation induced by dsRNA from transgene subsequently removed from end product (RdDM) | Special variants: Induced using virus not carried over through meiosis. Mobile small RNAs moving between shoot & root (grafted plants, possibility of regenerating epigenetically changed plant from non-GM part) |
|--------------------|--|---|---|---|
| Synthetic biology | | • | Synthetic chromosomes Site-specific activators/repressors (targeted activation or repression of gene expression by artificial factors affecting transcription or inducing epigenetic changes using combinations of active domains with SSN-derived DNA-binding domains) Introduction of novel pathways; "plant as factory" (pharmaceuticals/antibodies) Adapting CRISPR-Cas9 to targeting plant DNA viruses | |
| Method of delivery | Modifying gene expression without transformation | • | Gene silencing by application of dsRNA: o to plant (parts); o to insects/pathogens Agro-inoculation, VIGS "DNA-free" genome editing (by SSN delivery as (ribonucleo)protein, mRNA or transient expression of SSN-genes in cells | Special variant: early flowering by promoting or silencing gene expression through virus vector not transmitted to progeny |
| Other | | • | regenerating species hybrid from graft junction | |

4. Techniques

4.1. Genome editing using oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis (ODM)

Technical description

ODM introduces specific mutations at defined locations in the plant genome. For ODM synthetic oligonucleotides homologous to the target DNA, but containing mismatches, are introduced into plant cells. The mismatches in base pairing between the single-stranded oligonucleotide and target DNA are corrected by the plant's native repair mechanism, resulting in point mutations in the targeted DNA, which can be nucleotide substitutions or small indels, leading to an altered protein coding sequence, or a premature translational stop. The synthetic oligo's consist of both DNA and modified nucleotides or other end-protective chemistries. These modifications prevent the oligonucleotides from undergoing recombination (i.e., being incorporated into the genome), while maintaining the ability to act as a mutagen (Sauer *et al.* 2016). Once the correction process is completed, the oligos are degraded. In *in vitro* assays using "cell-free" extracts and various pure enzymes, it was demonstrated that the oligos are stable for sufficient time to direct gene correction and then are quickly degraded (Gocal *et al.* 2015).

Host effects

Genome editing by ODM leads to variants of native genes or knock-out mutants. As effective ODM requires long (>40 nt) oligos, (which are aside from the intended mismatch(es) fully complementary to the target sequence), off-target mutations (the unintended modifications at other chromosomal locations) are not expected. Information about any ODM off-target effects is however limited. Cole-Strauss $et\ al.\ (1996)$ and Xiang $et\ al.\ (1997)$ demonstrated the specificity of ODM by showing that when targeting the β -globin locus, closely related homologous globin gene sequences remained unaltered. We have found no other studies studying potential off-target effects of ODM.

Application areas

Because the efficiency of gene modification by ODM is low, to date all published examples using ODM in plants aimed at an efficiently selectable, herbicide-tolerant (HT) phenotype. In maize, canola, and oilseed rape plants, tolerance to imidazolinone herbicides has been engineered through targeted mutagenesis of the endogenous acetolactate synthase (ALS) gene, also known as the acetohydroxy acid synthase (AHAS) gene (Zhu *et al.* 2000). KeyGene reports that they have increased the efficiency of their system KeyBase up to about 1%, which would enable generating mutations in non-selectable types of traits, significantly broadening the usage of the technique.

Barriers and drivers

The requirement of specific tissue culture technology (protoplast technology; biolistic delivery) remains a barrier to a widespread application of this technique. Successful regeneration of plants from protoplasts is only applicable to a limited number of crop species (but including important crops such as tomato, potato and lettuce) and success rates are genotype-dependent (Eeckhaut *et al.* 2013). Targeting genes that are non-selectable during the ODM process and plant regeneration require high repair efficiencies, which are difficult to realize. A driver is that it represents a precise mutagenesis method that does not involve the use of transgenic constructs.

Horizon

Two companies, Cibus and KeyGene (http://www.keygene.com/products-tech/keybase/), are known to work on development and application of ODM for genome editing in plants. Cibus has produced herbicide-tolerant oilseed rape using ODM (which they call 'Rapid Trait Development System', RTDS), which is commercialized in the United States and Canada (http://cibus.com/press/press031814.php). Interviewees indicated that ODM could be attractive as no transgenic constructs are introduced and

therefore, it could be seen as the genome editing method farthest away from classical plant transformation. Competent authorities in six EU member states (IE, UK, ES, DE, FI and SE) have indicated that they do not consider (specific cases of) ODM to fall under GM regulation by Directive 2001/18/EC. Thus, Cibus performed field trials in the UK and SE, apparently without regulatory oversight, but has stopped these activities awaiting the legal analysis by the European Commission (Abbott 2015). When ODM would be considered as falling under the Directive 2001/18/EC, this would be expected to be prohibitive for commercial applications.

Increased gene targeting efficiencies will allow modification of other types of traits, such as disease resistances and product quality improvements, for which selection in tissue culture systems is not possible.

4.2. Genome editing using sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): non-homologous end joining (NHEJ pathway)

Technical description

Using SSN (sequence-specific nuclease) technology followed by non-homologous end joining (NHEJ)-mediated repair, any gene of interest can be stably knocked out or mutated. Zinc Finger Nucleases (ZFNs), Meganucleases, TALENs and CRISPR-Cas are examples of SSNs. SSNs are also called site-directed nucleases (SDNs). SSNs bind to a predefined target DNA sequence at which location they induce a double-strand break (DSB). Repair of the DSB by the native NHEJ pathway often results in a small insertion or deletion (indel) at the target site. Less frequently larger (20-200bp) deletions are induced. The indels are often bi- (or multi-) allelic, i.e., all copies of the gene are mutated in one regenerated plant. With the simultaneous use of two or more SSNs, multiple genes may be targeted at the same time. This is especially effective with CRISPR-Cas. The SSN constructs used are not required anymore after the modifications have been introduced. In case the constructs were incorporated as transgenic sequences they may be removed from the modified plant e.g. by segregation after crossing. Genome editing using SSNs, and especially using CRISPR-Cas, in plants has extensively being reviewed recently (see e.g. Fichtner et al. 2014; Puchta and Fauser 2014; Chen and Gao 2014; Bortesi and Fischer 2015; Osakabe and Osakabe 2015).

Host effects

Application of SSNs without a repair template can induce small indels in coding sequences resulting in premature stop of translation (knock-out mutants) or in translation into proteins with an altered amino acid sequence (amino acid substitutions or deletions of a few amino acids). If SSNs are targeted to the promoter sequence of a gene, the removal of specific promoter elements may result in gene variants with a changed gene expression pattern (Li et al. 2012). The application of a combination of SSNs can result in chromosomal rearrangements, such as deletions (Zhou et al. 2014), inversions, duplications (Lee et al. 2012) (up to a few megabasepairs) and translocations (Blasco et al. 2014; Choi and Meyerson 2014, Puchta and Fauser 2014). This may affect gene function, but may also have an impact on meiotic recombination (Rieseberg 2001). Off-target effects (unintended modifications at other chromosomal locations) can play a role when applying genome editing using SSNs. For TALENs off-target effects are relatively rare and depend on the number of repeats used (each repeat binds specifically to a single nucleotide). For both ZFNs and CRISPR-Cas higher frequencies of off-target effects have been reported (Fichtner et al. 2014). With CRISPR-Cas9, newly developed Cas9-variants with improved binding of target or non-target DNA strand to the Cas9-protein (eCas9 (Slaymaker et al. 2016); Cas9-HF1 (Hifi, Kleinstiver et al. 2016)) will reduce off-target effects. Also the use of orthologous Cas9s (from different bacterial species) that require longer PAM-sequences (e.g. -NNAGAAW for Cas9 of Streptococcus thermophilus instead of -NGG for Cas9 of Streptococcus pyogenes) results in reduced off-target activity (Ran et al. 2015). The search for the system with the least off-target effects is partly driven by potential applications in human patients, but plant biotechnology will benefit from these developments as well.

Application areas

SSNs without a repair template are mainly used to produce knock-out mutants and have already been applied to change oil composition by biochemical pathway engineering in oil crops (in soybean; Haun *et al.* 2014) and to achieve disease resistance by knocking out disease susceptibility (S) genes (in wheat; Wang *et al.* 2014). SSNs have also been used in rice to remove a specific element of an S gene promoter to prevent upregulation by pathogen-derived effector molecules, which led to bacterial leaf blight resistance while the gene remains functional for vital functions in the plant (Li *et al.* 2012). These are examples of how (novel) traits may be engineered by the removal or deletion of genes or elements, next to the insertion of new genes or alleles (which is the main strategy used with SSN (HR), as described in section 4.3).

Barriers and drivers

One important driver of development in this technology is the discovery of CRISPR-Cas. Other drivers are increasing high throughput sequencing potential and advancements in bioinformatics, which promotes

the discovery of gene functions, and which are also powerful tools for genome-wide screening of the final products for absence of SSN-DNA sequences and potential off-target mutations (Kim *et al.* 2015). The latter requires the availability of reference genome sequences, which are still of insufficient quality for most crop species (Feuillet *et al.* 2011). Barrier is off-target activity (but see above under "Host effects" for improvements).

Interviews confirmed that CRISPR-Cas is expected to expand enormously in the coming years, as it is the most easily applicable method of genome editing, also within the reach of small companies with limited resources for laboratory facilities. Intellectual property issues could be a barrier: the present legal dispute in the US about who can rightfully claim to be patent holder of the technique may create uncertainty around its commercial use.

Horizon

Currently, CRISPR-Cas is surpassing other SSNs as method of choice, which was confirmed in interviews. As reported for ODM, commercial applications will be dependent on decisions about regulatory oversight in the EU. Pioneer's waxy maize developed by CRISPR-Cas was very recently considered not to be regulated by USDA-APHIS in the US (https://www.aphis.usda.gov/biotechnology/downloads/reg_loi/15-352-01 air response signed.pdf).

A recent publication describes the option of avoiding transformation of the plant's genome, by transient expression of SSN genes in protoplasts followed by regeneration and testing for non-integration of the SSN construct (Clasen *et al.* 2015). The "DNA-free" use of CRISPR-Cas9 as preassembled ribonucleoprotein, rather than as DNA construct, for inducing DSBs has also recently been described for gene targeting in lettuce (Woo et al., 2015). A barrier for these variants is the availability of a protocol for regeneration of plants from protoplasts (like in ODM, section 4.1), which is only applicable in a limited number of crop species.

4.3. Genome editing using sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): homologous recombination (HR) pathway

Technical description

In an alternative SSN technology, the SSN-induced double-strand break (DSB) is precisely repaired by the native homologous recombination (HR) pathway on the basis of a DNA repair template supplied to the cell that is (partly) homologous to the target site. Using this homology-driven repair (HDR) approach, native gene sequences can be replaced by homologous sequences with small modifications. Also completely new DNA sequences can be incorporated at a predefined chromosomal target site. The application of SSN technology aimed at HDR is also referred to as gene targeting (GT) (Osakabe and Osakabe 2015; Puchta and Fauser, 2013). HDR is a very inefficient process in plants and requires selectable markers to effectively recover GT events (Endo and Toki 2014).

Host effects

The host effects are dependent on the type of insert and range from changes in gene expression level and pattern (in case regulatory elements have been replaced) or changed functionality of native genes to complete new gene functions in case novel coding sequences are introduced. As unintended effect, the SSN-induced DSB can result in indels instead of gene correction or replacement, or additional indels at the same locus in homologous chromosomes in case the NHEJ-repair pathway is activated, which is more efficient in plants than the intended HR repair pathway. Similarly as described for genome editing using SSNs and NHEJ pathway, potential off-target indels caused by NHEJ-repair of DSBs at off-target sites must be taken into account also here.

Application areas

There are only a few reports describing the application of HDR for genome editing in plants. In maize and soybean (Svitashev et al. 2015; Li et al. 2015) the acetolactate synthase (ALS) gene was targeted using CRISPR-Cas9 and modified using a DNA repair template containing several nucleotide changes compared to the native sequence, thereby providing chlorsulfuron herbicide resistance. In another example using ZFNs and HDR, insertional disruption of the inositol-1,3,4,5,6-pentakisphosphate 2-kinase (IPK1) gene in maize was achieved (Shukla et al. 2009). IPK1 catalyses the final step in phytate (an anti-nutritional component sequestering phosphate in feed grains) biosynthesis in maize. Because the IPK1-gene is disrupted by a transgenic phosphinotricin acetyltransferase gene sequence insert (which mediates tolerance to the herbicide agent phosphinotricin (glufosinate) and is used for selection of HDR integration events), the maize plants with a reduced phytate trait still contain foreign sequences in the end product. HDR-mediated gene integration has also been used for sequential stacking genes into a so-called 'safe harbour' locus, which is a chromosomal location where genes can integrate and function in a predictable manner (Ainley et al. 2013). An advantage of gene stacking at a single locus is that during subsequent crossings the stacked transgenes segregate as a single locus, which would simplify breeding of plant lines with stacked transgenes (Nandy et al. 2015; Srivastava and Thomson 2016). There is a clear interest in stacking of transgenes. For example, Monsanto and Dow AgroSciences collaborated in the production of maize, cotton and soybean lines in which transgenes have been stacked, and commercialized these lines as SmartStax™. The largest combination to date is eight genes coding for HT and insect resistances in SmartStax™ maize, which was launched in the USA and Canada in 2010 (James 2014). These transgenes were stacked by traditional crossing.

A specific application of SSNs and HR repair described recently uses CRISPR-Cas for a mutagenic chain reaction to convert heterozygous mutations to homozygous ones (Gantz & Bier 2015). This system, called "gene drive", generated efficiently homozygous mutations in the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles stephensi* (Gantz *et al.* 2015) and to a lesser extent in *Drosophila* fruit flies (Gantz & Bier 2015). Effective gene drives require a combination of an efficient HDR mechanism, a short generation time and genetic mixing in a population. Because in plants HDR is not efficient and so requires a strong positive selection for gene targeting events, CRISPR-Cas-mediated gene drives are as yet not expected to be effective in plants.

Barriers and drivers

The use of homologous recombination to precisely modify plant genomes has been challenging, due to the lack of efficient HR methods in plants. Current examples of genome editing by HR therefore rely on the use of selectable transgenes. Improvements, such as the use of geminivirus replicons for delivery of the SSN-coding sequences and the DNA repair template may overcome the efficiency barrier (Čermák *et al.* 2015) and drive genome editing by HR towards commercial applications.

Horizon

Precision breeding by allele replacement, replacing poor alleles by beneficial ones, including cisgenic applications (see section 4.5), promoter replacements, and stacking transgenes at a single chromosomal locus could be interesting future applications. However, commercial applications are not expected in the near future as HR is still technically challenging. The interviews indicated that this variant could be seen as quite similar to classical plant transformation (cf. EFSA's analysis of ZFN3 (SDN3, SSN3), EFSA GMO Panel 2012b) and therefore, regulatory barriers were envisaged in the EU.

4.4. Plant transformation with transgenes not in end product

Technical description

This category is a container concept rather than a technique, in which "classical" transgenic plant lines are being used in various ways to enable more efficient and faster breeding or plant (hybrid) variety production, but in which the end products do not contain the transgene any longer. In most cases, it may also be referred to as the use of "null segregants" (Camacho *et al.* 2014). The element of the use of transformation without the transgene ending up in the final plant product is actually also applicable in the genome editing techniques based on SSNs and a variant of TGS (RdDM), but these techniques are discussed in separate sections 4.2-4.3 and 4.7, respectively, because of their specific nature.

Host effects

The category covers a wide variety of approaches, which have in common that no transgene is present in the final plant products. This concept is mainly applied to facilitate and speed up plant breeding and thus, the transgene used for that purpose can or even needs to be removed by subsequent steps of crossing and screening for absence of the transgene to achieve an optimal result. Any unintended effects in the genome away from the transgene in the transgenic line will be minimal as repeated backcrosses to obtain elite material (varieties) are used and thus only a small part of the transgenic line's genome remains present in the final product (see further under section 4.5).

A special variant is the use of transgenic rootstocks. In this case, products of the scion are free of transgenes, but gene expression and (heritable) epigenetic state in the scion may be influenced through signalling pathways from the rootstock, e.g. through the transport of small RNAs (see RNAi sections 4.6 and 4.7). In addition, genetic exchanges have been reported to occur at the graft junction (see last Techniques section 4.10).

Application areas

There is a wide array of applications in which this strategy may be implemented. Examples are:

Early flowering: perennial woody crops, such as fruit trees, have long generation times and therefore lengthy breeding cycles. This can be sped up using backcrossing schemes involving lines that are early flowering by overexpressing exogenous flowering genes, such as *BpMADS4* in apple (Flachowsky *et al.* 2011) and *PtFT1* in *Eucalyptus* (Klocko *et al.* 2015) or in plum (Srinivasan *et al.* 2012), the latter called "FasTracking" (Yao 2011). In apple, proof of concept was demonstrated by combining a fire blight resistance from a wild relative (*Malus fusca*) with the new early flowering line followed by further crossing with another cultivated line containing additional disease resistances, leading to seedlings having all resistances combined within three years (Flachowsky *et al.* 2011).

Hybrid seed production: Production of doubled haploid lines that can be used as parents for hybrid seed production (and in breeding research, e.g. mapping, Van de Wiel *et al.* 2010) can be sped up by inducing haploids using a parental line with a mutated centromere-specific histone CENH3 (centromere-mediated chromosome elimination CCE). When the *cenh3* mutant is crossed to another plant, the chromosomes from the mutant are selectively lost, leaving a haploid progeny, some of which may turn into fertile doubled haploids through irregular non-reduction during meiosis. As this *CENH3* mutation is lethal, mutant lines can be maintained by introducing a transgenic rescue construct containing a variant of wild type *CENH3*. The chromosome elimination process, which also leads to loss of the transgene in the progeny, is thought to occur through unequal interactions with the mitotic spindle at the centromeres (Ravi and Chan 2010).

Hybrid seed production: Pioneer is using a transgenic maintainer line in the propagation of the male-sterile female parental line in their hybrid production system "SPT". The transgenic construct encodes a protein (MS45) that compensates the mutant version causing the male sterility of the female parent line. The transgenic construct is present in a hemizygous state and therefore is inherited in half of the pollen produced by the maintainer. The construct also encodes an a-amylase (ZM-AA1) that renders the pollen infertile and so only the pollen without the transgenic construct produce offspring that can be used as female parent in subsequent hybrid seed production. To ensure that the seeds are completely free of the

transgene, the construct contains a third gene coding for a fluorescent marker enabling to check all seeds in a non-destructive manner (Wu et al. 2016).

Hybrid seed production: Rijk Zwaan developed a concept for making homozygous parental lines from a superior heterozygous plant by using a transgenic or mutant line silenced in meiosis, called reverse breeding (Dirks *et al.* 2009; Wijnker *et al.* 2012).

GM rootstocks can be used for a wide array of applications, such as resistance to soil-borne diseases and pests and improved rooting ability.

Barriers and drivers

Almost all techniques (except for GM rootstocks) have a common driver in that they increase the speed of breeding and/or the efficiency of hybrid seed production.

Horizon

Hybrid seed production is being developed or searched for in many crop species. Currently, Pioneer is testing the SPT technology in rice and wheat (still in experimental phases (Pioneer 2016)). This is a potentially huge market as rice and wheat are still mostly sold as inbred seeds. The interviews confirmed that generally, among all methods to accelerate breeding, the ones improving hybrid variety breeding or enabling it in crops where this is not yet feasible, are highly interesting for breeders. For instance, Pioneer also developed a transgenic hybrid seed production system using transcriptional gene silencing (see RNAi – TGS section 4.7). As mentioned under the genome editing techniques, regulatory status affects the likelihood of commercialization in the EU. The USDA decided that the F1 hybrid varieties produced using such a system are outside the scope of regulation in the US, provided that the transgene is absent in all seeds (Camacho *et al.* 2014).

Early flowering was recently shown to be achievable using a virus vector containing a construct expressing an *Arabidopsis Flowering Locus T* gene and silencing the *Terminal Flowering 1* gene in apple (Yamagishi *et al.* 2014). The virus used is not seed-transmissible; thus, the trait is achieved without genetic modification of the apple genome (cf. similar applications in RNAi section 4.7). When the virus is applied to cotyledons, the seedling will be induced to flower, so the approach is versatile as for any seed in any generation it can be decided to induce early flowering or not. Additional possibilities with grafted plants are mentioned under RNAi sections 4.6 and 4.7.

4.5. Plant transformation introducing genes from cross-compatible species

Technical description

The central tenet in this concept is the use of sequences from cross-compatible species (also referred to as the primary and secondary gene pool (i.e., varieties and landraces, and wild species, respectively) in the context of conventional crossing methods). Two variants are discerned: cisgenesis and intragenesis (Holme *et al.* 2013). Cisgenesis involves transformation with genes from cross-compatible species in their native state, i.e. with their own promoters and introns (Jacobsen & Schouten 2007). In addition, the use of additional genes for selecting transformants should be avoided or such selection genes should be removed by inducible site-specific recombination methods (Schaart *et al.* 2011). Intragenesis likewise involves the use of genes (sequences) from cross-compatible species and marker-free transformation, but the gene sequences are recombined with e.g. other promoters or in other orientations, in order to achieve novel traits (Rommens *et al.* 2007).

Host effects

With cisgenesis, the normal effects of the genes are expected as when they would be introgressed through backcrossing. With intragenesis, the effects depend on the specific construct as with transgenesis. An already established variant is represented by constructs silencing specific genes (see under RNAi section 4.6). Other possible variants are increasing or ectopic expression of specific genes by careful choice of alternative promoters, up to rewiring of developmental pathways. Unintended effects of intragenesis will mainly depend on the type of novel trait designed (EFSA GMO Panel 2012a).

Any possible unintended effect relating to standard plant transformation (e.g. related to random insertion of T-DNA into the genome) will be similar for cis- as well as intragenesis (and transgenesis) (cf. EFSA GMO Panel 2012a; Parrott et al 2010; Ladics *et al.* 2015).

Application areas

The sort of applications in cisgenesis is limited by definition to native genes or alleles not yet present in the targeted elite plant material. Examples published comprise stacking R genes, for instance against late blight caused by *Phytophthora infestans* in potato (Haesaert *et al.* 2015; Haverkort *et al.* 2016) or against scab caused by *Venturia inaequalis* in apple (Krens *et al.* 2015). Possible applications in intragenesis may vary widely, including disease resistance, e.g. against *Botrytis* through combining the coding sequence of the strawberry polygalacturonase-inhibiting gene with the fruit-specific promoter from the strawberry expansin 2 gene (Krens *et al.* 2012), and drought tolerance through recombining vacuolar pyrophosphatase 1 with an endogenous drought-inducible promoter from dehydrin (Templeton *et al.* 2008, at that time still rated as "cisgenic"). Other examples are gene silencing, e.g. for improving product quality/composition, through RNAi (see section 4.6) and "rewiring" a developmental pathway, e.g. changing secondary cell wall formation to reduce lignin content (see under Synthetic biology section 4.8).

Barriers and drivers

The driver for cisgenesis was developing concepts that may increase consumer acceptance and simplify regulatory oversight as the types of genes used are basically the same as the ones already introgressed through traditional breeding methods (see under horizon). In addition, the advantage in comparison to classical introgression is the increased speed with which R genes can be stacked so as to diminish the possibilities for the pathogen to overcome the plant's resistance. This is particularly useful for crop species with long generation times and/or complex breeding due to heterozygosity, such as fruit trees and potato. It also enables maintaining the genetic make-up of successful varieties while adding the cisgenic traits, which is not possible by classical breeding as crops such as potato and apple are highly outcrossing and alternative systems of hybrid breeding have not yet been (fully) developed. Developments in sequencing and bioinformatics lead to an increase in knowledge on gene functions and effects of natural (allelic) variation, which could be used in both cis- and intragenesis. A complicating factor lies in achieving marker-free transformants, which is a less efficient system. The definition of cisgenesis poses a limitation on the types of traits attainable.

Horizon

For cisgenesis, a proof of concept has been delivered for late blight-resistant potato, including a resistance management system, using the cultivar Desiree in the so-called DuRPh project in the Netherlands (Haverkort *et al.* 2016). In Belgium, VIB (Vlaams Instituut voor Biotechnologie) is working on a version using the cultivar Bintje (VIB 2014), which is intended to be ready in 2018. Simplot's variant of the Innate potato containing a single R gene against late blight was deregulated in the US in 2015 (https://www.regulations.gov/#!docketDetail;D=APHIS-2014-0076). Interviews indicated that cisgenesis is seen as a typical example of a technical concept developed in an attempt to simplify regulatory concepts, though useful applications are worth considering in their own right. At the same time, commercial applications are thus dependent on regulatory interpretations and consumer acceptance, including labelling issues.

An intragenic application using gene silencing is already cultivated in the US, Simplot's Innate potato (see section 4.6).

4.6. RNAi – post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS)

Technical description

The technique uses an existing mechanism of post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) to reduce gene expression in a targeted fashion. This is achieved by transformation with a construct containing an inverted repeat specific to the gene targeted. RNA transcribed from the construct forms double stranded RNA (dsRNA) by folding upon itself leading to a "hairpin". The hairpin is processed into microRNAs (miRNA), 20-21 nucleotides (nt) long, by a Dicer protein, DCL1, which is specific to the PTGS pathway. The miRNA, incorporated into a specialized Argonaute protein, AGO1, subsequently directs mRNA degradation or its translational repression leading to specific silencing of gene expression. The transgenic construct remains present in the final plant product in order to maintain gene silencing (Kamthan *et al.* 2015).

A special application of the method is using transgenic constructs targeted against genes of pests (e.g. insects) or pathogens (e.g. viruses or fungi), called "cross-kingdom" RNAi or host-induced gene silencing (HIGS) (Han & Luan 2015). In this case, dsRNAs are produced that, upon being taken up by the targeted pest or pathogen, are processed into miRNAs that interfere with the expression of essential genes (e.g. cytochrome p450 monoxygenase, vacuolar ATPase) of that organism.

Host effects

The technique leads to targeted gene silencing; therefore, in principle, a wide variety of traits achievable by knock-down mutants can be envisaged. Kamthan *et al.* (2015) discuss applications in plant architecture, fruit quality and shelf life, pathogen and pest resistances, several abiotic stress tolerances (e.g drought, salt, temperature), and biofortification. Off-target effects of silencing other genes may be possible, but little has been published about this (Senthil-Kumar & Mysore 2011; Casacuberta *et al.* 2015). There may also be some overlap with TGS (transcriptional gene silencing, also see section 4.7). In some cases, the hairpin RNA could also be processed into 24 nt miRNA (lmiRNA) that enters the DNA methylation pathway through loading onto AGO4 (Matzke & Mosher 2014). For *Arabidopsis*, a NERD protein has been described that induces RdDM (RNA-directed DNA methylation) using components of the PTGS pathway, including 21 nt siRNAs (Pontier *et al.* 2012). With RdDM, there is also the possibility of DNA methylation spreading into sequences adjacent to the RNAi target sequence (Casacuberta *et al.* 2015).

With the "cross-kingdom" RNAi, the range of organisms (e.g. insect species) targeted can be limited by careful choosing the gene sequence at which the dsRNA is directed (Burand & Hunter 2013). Whether non-target organisms (NTOs) will be affected, will depend on the extent to which specific gene sequences can be selected, which in turn will also depend on genome knowledge of (related) species (e.g. insect groups) and thus on developments in genomics and bioinformatics.

Application areas

"Classical" examples of genetic modification through plant transformation likely employed some way of PTGS, such as the FlavrSavr long shelf life tomato and low amylose potatoes (Krieger *et al.* 2008; De Vetten *et al.* 2003). Recently, a potato with improved product quality, i.e. low in bruise spot and heat-induced acrylamide formation (Simplot's Innate potato), and an apple with reduced browning (Okanagan's Arctic apples), both based on the system described in this section, i.e. by introducing inverted repeats, were deregulated in the US (Ye *et al.* 2010; USDA-APHIS).

Examples of applying "cross-kingdom" RNAi can be found particularly for insects, but also for fungi (*Fusarium*, Cheng *et al.* 2015) and oomycetes (*Phytophthora*, Sanju *et al.* 2015; *Bremia*, Govindarajulu *et al.* 2015). siRNAs can be transported through the phloem, which opens up the possibility of using grafted plants, for example a transgenic rootstock promoting silencing of a target gene in the scion. Zhao & Song (2014) showed that siRNAs produced from a transgenic hairpin construct based on the virus PNRSV in a sweet cherry rootstock were transported to the scion, which was accompanied by enhanced resistance to the virus. An alternative method of delivery of RNAi could become using an attenuated virus containing the dsRNA construct (Burand & Hunter 2013).

Barriers and drivers

A basic problem for PTGS can be the efficiency of gene silencing, which will usually be not 100%; at the same time, this could be advantageous for traits where diminished expression rather than complete knocking-out as in mutants is desirable. The effectiveness of "cross-kingdom" RNAi will also depend on the efficiency of uptake by the pest or pathogen, the specifics of the RNAi pathways in the organism, and the lethality of the process disturbed. For instance, RNAi appears to work not very well in flies (Diptera), which may be related to differences in the Dicer protein or the lack of other factors (Sid-1, Shreve et al. 2013). A recent improvement in effectiveness was achieved by expression in plastids (Colorado beetle: Zhang et al. 2015, Helicoverpa armigera: Jin et al. 2015). The advantage of expression in the chloroplast is that the dsRNA is not already processed into siRNAs in the plant host and so is delivered more effectively to the targeted insect. Transformation of chloroplasts has also been proposed as a way to mitigate pollen-mediated gene flow as plastids are usually transmitted through the mother line in Angiosperms (but this is not complete and varies somewhat between species, Stewart & Prakash 1998). With regards to applications in other insects, RNAi may not be able to compete with effective alternatives already offered by Bt (Bacillus thuringiensis toxin, a bacterial crystalline (Cry) protein introduced using "classical" plant transformation) against lepidopterans (moths). However, it may be attractive for control of groups for which no effective Bt is available, such as sucking insects, e.g. phloem-feeding aphids (Burand & Hunter 2013), though Bt adapted to such groups are being developed (Chougule et al. 2013). RNAi may also be helpful for pest insects such as Western corn rootworm that has relatively quickly developed resistance to Bt (Baum & Roberts 2014; Lombardo et al. 2016). Finally, there is an alternative delivery method for RNAi, i.e. applying it directly by topical application (as spray) (e.g. against virus, Robinson et al. 2014) and it will depend on relative efficiencies which method will be most competitive (see further Modifying gene expression with exogenous compounds, section 4.9).

With the fast developments in bioinformatics and DNA sequencing, knowledge is generated that can be used to improve the effectiveness and the specificity of "cross kingdom" RNAi. Particularly, recent work on (long) non-coding RNAs has contributed to the knowledge on the role of ncRNA in various pathways of gene regulation (Ariel *et al.* 2015; Liu *et al.* 2015) (see further section 4.7).

Horizon

Simplot's intragenic RNAi-based Innate potato is cultivated in the US (160 ha in 2015) and has just received regulatory approval in Canada. Likewise, Okanagan's Arctic apples have been deregulated in the US. BASF's Amflora "antisense" transgenic construct-based low amylose potato had been authorised in the EU for cultivation but was withdrawn shortly before commercialization (BASF 2012). Afterwards, the original EC's decision to authorise Amflora was annulled by the general Court of the EU (Case T-240-10, http://curia.europa.eu/jcms/upload/docs/application/pdf/2013-12/cp130160en.pdf). A Monsanto version of "cross-kingdom RNAi" against Western corn rootworm, combined with Bt against the same organism, has been recently authorised for cultivation in the US and Canada (Lombardo et al. 2015). Interviews indicated that the regulatory situation in the EU may as of yet not be favourable to investing in this type of work as these all are "classical" GM plants, i.e. containing transgenes. Thus, using topical applications (sprays) could be an interesting alternative (but see section 4.9).

4.7. RNAi - transcriptional gene silencing (TGS)

Technical description

The technique uses an existing mechanism of transcriptional gene silencing (TGS), RNA dependent DNA methylation (RdDM), to reduce gene expression in a heritable fashion. This can be achieved by transformation with a construct containing an inverted repeat specific to the gene (promoter) targeted. RNA transcribed from the construct forms double stranded RNA (dsRNA) by folding upon itself leading to "hairpins". This dsRNA is processed into small interfering RNAs (siRNA), 24 nucleotides (nt) long, by a Dicer protein specific to the RdDM pathway, DCL3. The siRNA, incorporated into a specialized Argonaute protein, AGO4, subsequently directs DNA methylation of the targeted promoter sequence leading to silencing of gene expression. Uniquely for higher plants, special DNA polymerases are involved in the RdDM pathway, Pol IV and Pol V, which are related to Pol II that is responsible for mRNA production (Matzke & Mosher 2014; Ariel *et al.* 2015).

The transgenic construct may be removed from the final plant product, e.g. by crossing. An alternative tool is using a virus vector to introduce the siRNA (Kasai & Kanazawa 2013). When the virus used is not seed-transmissible, the final plant product will remain free of introduced DNA sequences.

Host effects

The technique leads to targeted gene silencing; therefore, in principle, a wide variety of traits achievable by knock-down epimutants could be envisaged. As in PTGS (see section 4.6), off-target effects may be possible, i.e. silencing of genes showing homology in their promoters to the siRNAs produced by the constructs used. In addition, in absence of the transgenic RNAi-construct, DNA methylation is expected to be lost after some generations of multiplication. In the RNAi – PTGS section 4.6, already overlaps with the TGS pathway were discussed. Kasai & Kanazawa (2013) describe a special case with the use of a virus vector where TGS involving siRNAs is accompanied by suppression of the PTGS mRNA degradation pathway. If the transgenic construct is permanently present in the final plant product (as in RNAi – PTGS section 4.6) the effect is expected to be more stable.

Application areas

Among the examples mentioned by Kasai & Kanazawa (2013) are reduced flower pigmentation, male sterility and reduced amylose content.

siRNAs can also be subject to long distance transport through phloem, which opens up the possibility of using grafted plants, for example a transgenic scion promoting silencing of a target gene in the rootstock. Regenerating plants from such a rootstock could lead to an epimutant completely free of exogenous DNA sequences (Kasai & Harada 2015). Gene silencing through long distance transmission was even achieved by agro-infiltration in the scions (Kasai & Kanazawa 2013).

There are also reports on mutants of the *MSH1* gene showing large changes in DNA methylation patterns that are heritable, transmissible between graft partners and that lead to increased growth vigour in *Arabidopsis* (Virdi *et al.* 2015) and tomato (Yang *et al.* 2015). It is not yet clear to what extent this will lead to applications in breeding.

An example of using the technique without removing the transgenic construct is a hybrid seed production system in maize using the *Ms45* nuclear male fertility gene, which in a homozygous recessive (silenced) state leads to male sterility. The male-sterile female parental line is created by crossing two complementary male fertile lines, each containing the (fertility) *Ms45* allele, but with different promoters and different RNAi silencing constructs as follows: one line combining *Ms45* with a heterologous (active) promoter and an RNAi construct silencing the heterologous promoter of the other line and vice versa. Thus, the progeny of this cross contains two *Ms45* alleles, the promoters of which are each silenced by the inverted repeat carried by the other allele, leading to male-sterile plants that can be used as female parent in hybrid seed production (Cigan *et al.* 2014).

Barriers and drivers

A basic problem for TGS is the efficiency of gene silencing, which may vary to an as yet unknown extent among genes, and the stability of the TGS in the absence of the inducing construct. DNA methylation is maintained by factors such as methyltransferases, e.g. MET1, but can also be removed by factors such as DNA glycosylases, e.g. ROS1. Kasai & Kanazawa (2013) showed a higher effectiveness of using a virus vector, cucumber mosaic virus (CMV), as vector for RNAi constructs. Disadvantages of such an approach are the limitation to particular hosts by the specificity of particular viruses and to seed-propagated plants.

With the recent developments in bioinformatics and sequencing, in particular transcriptomics (RNA sequencing), knowledge on non-coding RNAs (ncRNA) is expanding quickly (Liu *et al.* 2015), including the development of databases for ncRNAs (Xuan *et al.* 2015, Patra *et al.* 2014). This may become a driver of RNAi-based methods, as there is still much unknown about mechanisms of RNA-based signalling pathways and control of development in plants, in which also histone modifications play a role (Matzke & Mosher 2014). At the same time, examples in phosphate homeostasis (Liu *et al.* 2015) and flowering control (vernalization, Chekanova 2015) indicate a high complexity of regulation, which may hamper relatively simple applications such as those targeting single genes. In addition, alternative pathways of RNAi TGS have been described for Arabidopsis (Bond & Baulcombe 2015). Genome editing techniques, in particular CRISPR-Cas (see section 4.2), have begun to be used for testing functionality of ncRNAs (Basak & Nithin 2015).

Horizon

Interviews indicated that product stability is adamant to breeders' commercialization decisions (cf. the S for stability in the DUS prerequisites for plant variety registration) and this is not clear for RNAi systems using DNA methylation in which the transgenic construct has been removed. In addition, there is the uncertainty around the status of "null segregants" (see section 4.4) with regard to EU GM regulation. By maintaining the transgenic transcriptional silencing construct as in RNAi – PTGS (section 4.6), more stable applications are possible, such as a female inbred maintaining system for hybrid seed production, but this has the regulatory disadvantage for classical transgenesis already mentioned in the same section 4.6.

4.8. Synthetic biology

Technical description

"Synthetic biology" does not appear to be a well-defined field, as different authors use it for different types of approaches. For instance, genome editing techniques, such as CRISPR-Cas, sometimes are included, but in our classification we reserved this term for various alternative, novel uses of the CRISPR-Cas protein, such as changing it into genome site-specific activators/repressors of gene transcription. Definitions of the term entail engineering plants for new functions or devices (e.g. sensors) (Liu and Stewart 2015) that are not found in nature, in other words, intentional design of artificial biological systems (Lusser *et al.* 2011). The field is still in its infancy and therefore we will limit ourselves to a few examples. The furthest developed branch appears to be the introduction of novel (metabolic) pathways. Further away, there is the construction of synthetic chromosomes still in the research phase (Birchler 2015) that will be briefly mentioned here.

Host effects

Introducing novel pathways means changes in (relative) amounts of metabolites or proteins or the introduction of products totally new to the plant, such as pharmaceuticals. Effects will depend on the kind of pathway introduced and the way of regulating its expression.

Novel pathways could be systematically introduced through synthetic chromosomes. Minichromosomes have been engineered by truncating a B chromosome in maize and adding a transgenic array capped with a telomere at one end to the remaining centromere of the B chromosome. For enabling the later addition of novel sequences, a sequence for site-specific recombination could be inserted (Birchler 2015).

The CRISPR-Cas system that is presently widely used for genome editing (see section 4.2), originally functions in controlling viruses (bacteriophages) in archaea and bacteria. Ali *et al.* (2015) reported that CRISPR-Cas9 can also be targeted in that manner in plants by overexpressing Cas9 and providing guiding RNA (sgRNAs) specific to virus, in this case TYLCV. Virus DNA accumulation was shown to be significantly reduced; the system could be extended to other viruses by introducing adapted sgRNAs.

The specific DNA sequence recognition function of the Cas protein may also be used for other purposes than genome editing. By knocking out the DNA nuclease function (dCas9) and combining with alternative active domains affecting transcription, the Cas/guide RNA complex can be used as artificial transcription factor to enhance or decrease gene expression, or to make it inducible upon demand, e.g. in response to the addition of a particular chemical compound. Finally, a complex can be engineered to modify DNA epigenetically (e.g. by adding DNA methylating activity, see RNAi-TGS section 4.7, to the dCas9) in order to alter gene expression genome-wide (Puchta 2016; Thakore *et al.* 2016). Very recently, Komor *et al.* (2016) added another variant, i.e. combining dCas with a cytidine deaminase enabling to change a single cytidine to uridine (thereby effecting a C to T substitution) without making a dsDNA break (in effect a specialized form of genome editing, see section 4.2).

Application areas

The classic example of adding a pathway for biofortification is the Golden Rice with increased levels of pro-vitamin A, which in its improved version has a transgenic construct of a phytoene synthase from daffodil combined with the originally used carotene desaturase from *Erwinia uredovora* (Paine *et al.* 2005). More extensive adaptation of pathways for biofortification has been described for maize by Zhu *et al.* (2008) and Naqvi *et al.* (2009; 2011). They used combinatorial transformation to enhance vitamin production in endosperm, which meant introducing 5 transgenic constructs, including various endosperm-specific promoters, simultaneously through a biolistics approach followed by selecting plants expressing several or the complete set of transgenes for their production efficiency. In this way, Zhu *et al.* (2008) increased vitamin A (carotenoid) production and Naqvi *et al.* (2009) increased production of even three vitamins at the same time: β -carotene, ascorbate and folate.

An example that could count as a special application of intragenesis (see section 4.5) is the "rewiring" of a developmental pathway, e.g. changing secondary cell wall formation to reduce lignin content and increase polysaccharides for biofuel production (Yang *et al.* 2013). Lignin deposition was directed to

vessels by placing the cinnamoyl CoA 4-ligase (*C4L*) gene under the pVND6 promoter in an *Arabidopsis c4l* mutant in order to keep vessel formation (and thus water transport) effective while fibres remained low in lignin and at the same time had a higher cell wall polysaccharide deposition by the introduction of an artificial positive feedback loop using the master fibre transcription factor NST1.

In the border area between "white" and "green" biotechnology, already for some time the possibilities of using plant (cells) for the production of high value compounds, in particular pharmaceuticals, is being studied. For instance, monoclonal antibodies can be produced in plants. In addition, antigens for use as vaccines can also be produced in plants and thus, could also be applied orally (recent review: Juarez *et al.* 2016).

Barriers and drivers

For pharmaceutical purposes, technical hurdles had to be overcome, such as adjusting protein glycosylation patterns to mammalian (human) patterns. Even though there may be clear advantages to using plants for pharmaceutical production (cost effectiveness, safety as they will be largely free of human pathogens, often more simple purification), it appears to be difficult to compete with existing production systems (Juarez et al. 2016). Moreover, the potential admixture of therapeutic production systems with food production in the same crop, particularly in plant species with seeds attractive for pharmaceutical production purposes, such as maize, will call for tight containment schemes (e.g. Mascia & Flavell 2004). Alternative uses of CRISPR-Cas and synthetic chromosomes still appear to be in the research phase.

Horizon

Of metabolic pathways for biofortification, Golden Rice is still in the phase of multi-location field trials for optimizing yields (IRRI 2014). Up to now, the only therapeutic that has been approved (by the FDA in the US) is a human enzyme, taliglucerase a, for the rare lysosomal storage disorder, Gaucher disease, produced in carrot cells by the Israelian company Protalix. The interviews indicated that, partly depending of what one counts as synthetic biology, most of it is too far away from practical applications and/or showing unclarities about the position in safety assessments/regulation to be fit for applications. Engineering metabolic pathways and/or production of pharmaceuticals could be interesting, provided that the production can be strictly contained, particularly with regard to crops species also used in food production. Thus, measures to avoid gene flow or any other admixture between a pharmaceutical line and the conspecific food crop need to be in place. Other interesting applications are in the field of bioeconomy, e.g. low lignin (see the "rewiring" *Arabidopsis* biofuel example above under "Application areas", also "classical" transgenic examples in poplar have been tested in the field, cf. Van Acker *et al.* 2014).

4.9. Modifying gene expression with exogenous compounds

This is a category outside of the central theme of this study, i.e. modifying gene expression in a heritable fashion, but because of overlap with developments described above it will briefly be touched upon here.

Implementing RNAi against pathogens and pests (see RNAi-PTGS section 4.6) may take the form of topical application of dsRNA solutions (e.g. against virus, Robinson *et al.* 2014; against insects, Baum & Roberts 2014). Their effectiveness depends on the development of formulations with delivery agents that improve delivery to the pathogen or pests and environmental stability (Baum & Roberts 2014). Efficient delivery solutions may also be used to direct gene expression in plants, for instance to improve shelf life or to induce drought tolerance during a period of water deficit (for review, Hu & Lübberstedt 2015).

A special variant of such crop management by spraying is by engineering ABA receptors to be responsive to specific agrochemicals, so that ABA signalling can be activated by spraying an agrochemical during drought spells (Rodriguez & Lozano-Juste 2015).

Agro-infiltration, including use of virus vectors, is still mainly used for research purposes. It can also be used for high value protein production (see Synthetic biology, section 4.8). Special variants, early flowering induced by using a virus vector and TGS in rootstocks by agro-infiltration in the scion, are discussed above (Plant transformation with transgenes not in end products section 4.4 and RNAi-TGS section 4.7, respectively).

"DNA-free" genome editing through SSN delivery as protein or transient expression in cells is discussed above under Genome editing section 4.2.

Interviews indicated that for many breeders sprays are outside of their business models, but it could be interesting for growers to increase flexibility and yields, and to simplify the choice for a particular variety to grow, which normally often involves uncertainties about expected water conditions and pest/pathogen levels. Regulatory aspects have been discussed above under RNAi – PTGS section 4.6.

4.10. Regenerating a species hybrid from a graft junction

In 2009, Stegemann & Bock reported that they were able to regenerate shoots from cells in tobacco graft junctions in which the cytoplasmic (plastid) genomes and nuclear genomes of scion and rootstock were exchanged. They used different transgenic antibiotic resistances and fluorescent reporter genes to select for and confirm these new combinations of plant genetic materials. These new combinations are like plant products that can be obtained by cell fusion (somatic hybridization), which is an established technique mainly used for introducing CMS (cytoplasmic male sterility) in crop plants (Van de Wiel *et al.* 2010). However, in this case it is not clear by what mechanism cytoplasmic and nuclear genomes become exchanged. In a next step, Fuentes *et al.* (2014) showed that they could also regenerate a new allopolyploid species hybrid from a graft junction between *Nicotiana tabacum* and *N. glauca*. Here the new combinations of the two nuclear genomes were again selected by using different transgenic antibiotic resistance and reporter genes. Apart from the use of transgenic selection markers, the techniques used here appear to be in the realm of conventional breeding: grafting and plant regeneration through tissue culture. Nevertheless, these intriguing observations may open up a novel way to generate difficult species hybrids. As these are as of yet single research examples, it is not yet clear to what extent this method may lead to commercial applications in breeding.

5. Discussion and conclusions

The aim of this study was to provide an overview of new developments in plant biotechnology. These encompass both novel techniques such as genome editing and new concepts or applications for already established techniques such as plant transformation (transgenic plants). We performed a literature review and held interviews with stakeholders. The interviews followed the list of techniques presented above (cf. Table 1 and Annex) and their results were mentioned with each technique discussed, mostly in the Horizon paragraphs. The interviews were especially helpful in identifying drivers and barriers (particularly those perceived with regard to regulatory uncertainty) and the (short term) horizon of products of the techniques. They generally confirmed that we had not missed relevant developments. Nevertheless, one needs to take into account that companies basically may not be able to freely discuss every novelty as they may feel the commercial need of protecting their business strategy.

We will first discuss the classification of techniques that we followed here. Subsequently, we will discuss intended and unintended effects of the techniques, followed by drivers and barriers for their application, and finally the horizon, *i.e.* what kind of applications can be expected in the short and medium term.

Classification

We presented our overview of developments in plant biotechnology by a listing of techniques and/or concepts as follows (see Table 1): genome editing, alternative uses of classical transformation technology, RNAi (specific gene silencing) methods and synthetic biology, plus remaining categories of external compounds directing gene expression and an additional development in grafted plants. There are, however, many cross-connections among techniques and concepts. Thus, not only "Plant transformation with transgenes not in end product" but actually the greater part of these techniques have as common denominator a step involving transgenic lines, with the transgene not being part of the final plant product. Only the genome editing variant SSN - HR (with foreign sequences), cisgenesis/intragenesis and RNAi-PTGS (and some applications of RNAi-TGS) rely on the presence of the introduced sequence or transgene in the final plant product. In an attempt to visualize cross-connections, an alternative scheme shown in Table 2 presents the developments according to the way transgenic constructs are used: plants with transgene insertion(s), with transgene insertion followed by removal, and transient expression/presence or even not using any (transgenic) DNA but (ribo)proteins of RNA for changing traits. This scheme further shows that there are multiple ways of implementing genome editing technology, including alternative forms of CRISPR-Cas, and of using RNAi, and the use of virus vectors as alternative to "classical" transformation. "Classical" use of transformation (with the transgene(s) in the final plant product) also shows further developments with novel traits, such as introduction of metabolic pathways involving larger numbers of (recombined) genes, but these may not be immediately obvious as category, as we classified this more or less arbitrarily with Synthetic biology (apart from the special cases of cis/intragenesis). Classification could also be based on the nature of the final plant products, such as plants with new genes at a new chromosomal locus, plants without new genes but with a mutation and plants without new genes or new modifications, which was used in Schaart et al. (2016).

A special case is the use of grafted plants. We included the use of a transgenic rootstock under "Plant transformation with transgenes not in end product", whereas for instance, Lusser *et al.* (2012) had a separate category for it. Grafting is indeed special in that part of the plant cultivated contains the transgene, in the particular example the rootstock, and so the harvests from the scion, do not. On the other hand, apart from providing resistance to soil-borne diseases, such grafted plants can also be used in both forms of RNAi (PTGS and TGS) by providing transportable siRNA that can influence gene expression in the scion, up to a variant where a TGS plant without transgene is regenerated from a rootstock silenced by RNA from a transgenic or infiltrated scion. Such links between uses of the technologies are also referred to as much as possible in the individual sections of chapter 4.

Intended and unintended effects

As in classical plant transformation, intended and unintended effects will largely depend on the type of novel trait introduced and so will vary from case to case. Genome editing and RNAi techniques, and potentially synthetic biology, enable changing a wide variety of traits, e.g. abiotic stress tolerances, disease resistances or metabolic changes underlying product quality. With genome editing (except for SSN - HR using "foreign" sequences as template) and RNAi, existing ("native") plant genes are changed. ODM can produce gene knock-outs and small changes of one amino acid. SSN - NHEJ will mainly produce gene knock-outs. Thus, with SSN - NHEJ mainly recessively inherited traits will be produced, while with ODM additionally (co)dominantly inherited traits may be possible, that is, those based on single amino acid changes. SSN - HR enables producing precise changes, from small sequence changes up to inserting complete (novel) gene sequences, and thus dominantly inherited traits (allelic variants or novel genes). With RNAi, gene knock-downs are produced, but as opposed to genome editing, they will inherit dominantly, as long as the silencing construct is present in the plant line. With "null segregants", such as in early flowering, a large array of traits can be introduced, but in this case, apart from using the transgenic line for improving efficiency, conventional crossing methods are used, and so both recessively and dominantly inherited traits may be produced based on existing genes in the cross-compatible germplasm.

Interesting examples of effects directly related to a specific trait are found in resistances to insects or pathogens. One of the recent trends is knocking out/silencing so-called S (susceptibility) genes (Pavan *et al.* 2010). This could lead to unintended effects, i.e. changes in plant performance and/or affecting non-target organisms (NTOs). An intriguing example of avoiding the first is using genome editing for making a small change in the promoter of an S gene in rice abolishing the target of a bacterial pathogen without affecting the promoter regions used for the gene's expression necessary for plant performance (Li *et al.* 2012).

Resistance to insects or pathogens through "cross-kingdom" RNAi or host-induced gene silencing (HIGS, a special application of PTGS) is another interesting trend and may represent a case of a truly "novel" type of trait, though exchange of small RNAs between organisms is an existing phenomenon (cf. Han & Luan 2015). This trait is based on a transgenic construct maintained in the final plant product. The transgenic construct introduced encodes a dsRNA targeted at vital functions of the pest or pathogen. By carefully choosing the gene sequences targeted in the pest insect, effects on non-target organisms (NTOs) could be minimized to an even larger extent than with Bt. The occurrence and magnitude of side-effects will depend on the possibilities of identifying suitable target sequences that are specific for the target organism only. It can be expected that increased availability of genome sequences will increase the ability to find such sequences, and if genome sequences are not available yet, it has become cheaper and easier to produce them for the purpose of such a project.

As the greater part of these techniques uses the transgene during the process but not in the final (plant) product, unintended effects from the transgenes are lacking, and any effect from the transformation process on the genome of the transgenic line will be minimal as most of its genome will be removed by repeated backcrossings during the breeding process towards varieties. For SSN-based genome editing techniques there is even an alternative to avoid transformation altogether, employing transient expression of the construct encoding the SSN in the cell and regenerating plants lacking transgenic insertions in their genome. A step further in this direction is introducing the proteins and/or gRNAs directly into protoplasts (DNA-free genome editing). For the "null segregant" approaches, such concepts are also explored, for instance in early flowering. An interesting variant published for early flowering is introducing expression constructs through virus vectors, which are subsequently removed, e.g. in case the virus is not seed-transmissible, so will not end up in the progeny. Examples of using virus vectors are also reported for genome editing and RNAi (see Table 2). Notably, for many of the "null segregant" approaches, removing the transgene is inherent to effective usage of the technique, so not primarily aimed at any unintended side effects. For example, the transgenic early flowering trait is useful during the (back) crossing process but is unwanted in the end product.

HR (homologous recombination) application of SSNs could provide a more precise way of introducing desirable alleles, e.g. by exchanging them with alleles present in the elite material. In this way, (cis)genes could also be introduced at precise locations in the genome in order to reduce unintended effects to the minimum. Further development of NGS and bioinformatics will provide clues to desirable

alleles or cisgenes by allele mining/modelling, for instance in wild/exotic plant accessions. HR is however still technically difficult and having off-target effects for which solutions are being researched.

Depending on the specific variant, off-target mutations (unintended modifications at other chromosomal locations) are possible with genome editing. For CRISPR-Cas9, in the highly active field of medical-biological research, improvements have been made to the Cas9 protein or gRNA in order to reduce the off-target effects. In addition, such effects could now be identified (to some extent) using NGS and bioinformatics (genome re-sequencing) (see e.g. Kim *et al.* 2015). One needs to place this in the context that genome editing is expected to be far more precise than classical mutagenesis (which also induces multiple random mutations that are not related to the trait of interest), and that plant breeding involves extensive phenotypic and increasingly genotypic testing for selecting elite materials for commercialization (for instance, removing unintended phenotypes from materials generated by classical mutagenesis, cf. EFSA GMO Panel 2012a).

Likewise with RNAi, though aimed at specific gene sequences, off-target silencing also appears to be possible, but relatively little has been reported about it. NGS and bioinformatics (transcriptome sequencing) could be helpful in assessments here as well. It might be complex however to take into account all potential variability in a crop species, as small sequence changes already will have effects with the short sequences (21-24 nt) used in RNAi. An alternative approach could be to compare intended and unintended target mRNAs from the plant with the RNAi construct and an isogenic line in sequence libraries of RNAi-cleaved mRNA made using PARE (parallel analysis of RNA ends) (Casacuberta *et al.* 2015). The recently increased attention to ncRNAs in fundamental research may be helpful (e.g. Liu *et al.* 2015), also in gaining more knowledge on RNAi mechanisms and the various pathways leading to PTGS and/or TGS.

Drivers and barriers

An important general driver for many of the new developments is the search for concepts that may simplify compliance with regulatory demands or that may be outside of regulatory oversight. At the same time, as long as the status of techniques with regard to regulatory oversight in the EU is not clear, they are not likely to be applied directly for producing marketable products. Cisgenesis is a case in point: the use of genes in their native state from the crop and related species themselves was expected to simplify regulatory assessment of the plant products and to improve consumer acceptance. Subsequently, a proof of concept was delivered, e.g. in late blight resistant potato (Haverkort *et al.* 2016), but commercial application has not yet taken off in view of the unclear regulatory status. As long as the legal situation is regarded as complex or costly, it may even be the case that breeders use all available novel technology plus "big data" (sequencing technology and bioinformatics) in their research (leads, traits), but for commercial application subsequently "reconstruct" the promising plants using conventional means, such as mutagenesis. For example, one could test mutations in various genes using CRISPR-Cas9, identify a mutation in a gene that has the desired phenotypic effect, then search such a mutation in a population generated by mutagenesis using powerful new DNA sequencing methods for efficient screening. The mutated allele is subsequently used in the normal breeding program.

The large progress in sequencing (NGS, RNA seq) and bioinformatics has already been mentioned and is generally an important background driver for many of the new techniques. Data produced using these techniques may provide clues for genes to be targeted by the genome editing techniques, while in turn these techniques, particularly CRISPR-Cas9, can serve as a powerful tool for functional genomics, i.e. to test for the functions of genes/alleles or ncRNAs (Basak & Nithin 2015). NGS and bioinformatics also provide wider knowledge on RNAi pathways, possibly also for methods such as TGS (RdDM) for which the expected stability of the plant product (i.e. the DNA methylation) hampers commercial application in the case that the transgenic construct is removed from the final plant product. In addition, an upcoming field is the finding of the common occurrence of long non-coding RNAs in the genome, including various examples of how they could be involved in regulating gene expression. For instance, various lncRNAs transcribed from the flowering gene *FLC* in *Arabidopsis* were shown to be involved in regulating vernalization (Chekanova 2015). This field is in its infancy and practical applications have not yet been identified.

Horizon

Table 3 presents an overview of the techniques with the horizon of applications. In some areas, developments are going fast, particularly in genome editing. For the ODM variant, the HT oilseed rape (SU canola) developed by Cibus has been brought to the market in the US and was recently authorised in Canada. In the SSNs, variants are quickly following upon one another, with the most striking development being CRISPR-Cas9. This technique was not even mentioned in the review of novel plant breeding techniques by Lusser *et al.* in 2012, but is now most promising due to its relatively easy applicability for a wide array of possible traits. The main focus of the genome editing techniques is introducing targeted changes in the genome, which is an improvement compared to random changes in classical mutagenesis. This even enables inducing changes that would be unlikely to be achieved by traditional mutagenesis (see the example of an S gene in rice above under "Intended and unintended effects").

Another interesting development is the use of "null segregants", i.e. the use of transgenic plants at some stage in breeding or seed production, but the final product does not contain the transgene. These are used for speeding up the breeding process, e.g. in early flowering in crop species with long generation times such as fruit trees, or for implementing a particular step in the process, such as haploid inducers. An example of early flowering is the FasTracking system in plum. An example in hybrid seed production, Pioneer's SPT system using a transgenic maintainer line, is already applied in the US.

RNAi applications range from a product quality example in potato already cultivated in the US (Simplot's Innate potato) to interesting developments in disease and pest resistance for which one example against insects was recently authorised in the US (against Western corn rootworm in maize). TGS in the form of RdDM (with removal of the transgenic construct) is unlikely to be effective in the short term for lack of trait stability.

Whether synthetic biology is far away from applications partly depends on how it is defined. Engineering metabolic pathways is already developing for some time following various concepts: introducing a series of transgenes encoding several vitamin pathways for biofortification, or even rewiring pathways by rearranging genes and promoters within the intragenesis concept. A high-value example is the production of pharmaceuticals for which plants have advantages as providing clean products relatively cheaply (e.g. free of human pathogens). Glycosylation patterns have been adapted to mammalian/human requirements through extensive research. There is only one product authorised at present, against an orphan disease (Gaucher). Finally, engineered Cas9 without nuclease activity (dCas9) can be used to build novel transcription factors or epigenetic modifiers (Puchta 2016). Whether this remains a research tool or will be used in transgenic commercial applications, remains to be seen.

Generally, the products of the techniques presented in this report need to cross the usual "valley of death" for innovations to achieve a commercially viable application. This can range from technical or practical barriers with the specific crop or trait to competition with all sorts of alternative approaches. Concrete examples have been discussed for engineered metabolic pathways e.g. the biofortified Golden Rice still being optimized for agronomical performance and pharmaceuticals in plants. Apparently, pharmaceutical plant production systems still can hardly compete with established animal or microbial cell systems and there is the added need for careful segregation in the case of using food crops (Juarez et al. 2016). As another example, RNAi can be developed for taxonomically diverse groups, but in groups where there is a sustainable Bt alternative, RNAi may not be competitive with regard to effectiveness, although it could be useful in combination with Bt to mitigate resistance development in the pest insect. There may be limitations in getting the dsRNA at the right place in the insect and here an alternative may be to use sprays (Baum & Roberts 2014). For this reason, sprays affecting gene expression are briefly described in this report. Sprays are further outside the scope when they are not changing genomes, and actually belong to the field of pesticides. Furthermore, silencing using RNAi will often not be absolute, which may hamper the application for certain purposes, but may be desirable for other traits where complete knocking out has undesirable side effects.

Conclusions

Predictions on developments in green biotechnology need to be considered with care as shown by the recent overwhelming success of CRISPR-Cas, which was unknown as a genome editing tool in plants just five years ago. As already seen in classical GM (transgenic plants), highly promising applications need to go through the often painstaking process of achieving commercial viability, i.e. making it into elite varieties that are competitive or superior to existing varieties. A practical problem with predicting the likelihood of development into commercial products is the additional focus on their regulation. GM regulation and labelling are perceived as prohibitively costly and the regulatory process as extremely uncertain (in the EU). These regulatory aspects were connected to ideas about consumer acceptance; both were not the focus of our review but proved inescapable in discussions on drivers and barriers, as experienced in interviews. Table 3 presents an overview of the techniques with an attempt to depict the horizon of applications, disregarding the expected impact of regulation in the EU as far as possible.

The most likely techniques to show strong developments in the near future are the genome editing ones, in particular CRISPR-Cas9. The "null segregant" concepts are promising for accelerating the breeding process and for producing F1 hybrid seeds. Some RNAi applications are already on the market outside of the EU and others may become relevant in the near future, e.g. "cross-kingdom" RNAi, but others, e.g. TGS (RdDM), at least in their variant of the end product not containing the transgenic silencing construct, are still awaiting effective examples; possibly, a better insight into mechanisms and stability of epigenetic changes will be helpful with the latter. In the synthetic biology field, applications in metabolic engineering may become relevant soon, particularly in bio-fortification, bio-based economy applications and possibly, pharmaceuticals. As with "classical" plant transformation, effects, intended as well as unintended, will largely depend on the type of trait introduced. Many of the traits are in the same categories as in "classical" transformation and/or conventional breeding, such as product quality, metabolites, abiotic and biotic stress tolerances, but are expected to be achieved with more efficiency and/or precision. We discussed some examples of alternative ways for achieving resistance and/or more precision attainable in resistances against pathogens and pests, in terms of plant performance and specificity for the target organism.

Table 2. Overview of different uses of transgenic constructs and technologies

| For stable DNA integration into the genome. | For stable DNA integration into the genome, but not in the end product. | For transient expression. |
|--|---|---|
| Delivery by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation or by direct DNA transfer (biolistic-, whisker-, PEG-, electroporation-mediated) | Delivery by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation or by direct DNA transfer (biolistic-, whisker-, PEG-, electroporation-mediated) | Delivery by Agrobacterium-mediated transformation or by direct DNA transfer (transient expression from plasmid), mRNA, protein or ribonucleoprotein transfer. Also virus-mediated (for overexpression and VIGS) |
| Intended for continuous presence of novel DNA sequences: | Intended as intermediate step and transgene will be removed in later generations (e.g. by segregation): | Intended for temporary presence of DNA, mRNA, protein or ribonucleoprotein (all these will be spontaneously degraded in the cell but DNA may also become stably integrated unintendedly and requires here check for absence): |
| -repair template DNA introduced by SSN-induced HR -cisgenesis (eg R-genes); intragenesis -RNAi-PTGS, e.g. against insects (cross-kingdom RNAi) -RNAi-TGS (maintained silencing) -CRISPR-Cas9 against DNA viruses -synthetic biology – metabolic pathways -rootstocks of grafted plants | -in genome editing (NHEJ or HR) -to facilitate, accelerate breeding (induced early flowering, several elements of hybrid variety breeding and hybrid seed production) -rootstocks of grafted plants: no transgene in scion products | -mutation induction by ODM, SSN (NHEJ) -HR induction (SSN-HR) -RNAi-TGS (methylation pattern is maintained over generations) -RNAi-TGS (VIGS) -induced early flowering (virus) -signalling from rootstocks of grafted plants to scions and v.v. |

Table 3. Overview of techniques with their applications, including the horizon basically without regard to barriers perceived with regulatory uncertainty in the EU.

| Technique | Applications | Barriers | Horizon |
|---|---|--|--|
| | | / Drivers | |
| Genome editing: Oligo-directed mutagenesis (ODM) | Wide array (potentially): (1) Herbicide tolerance (HT) (2) Modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic (S genes) & abiotic (drought), etc. | Technically demanding: protoplast technology & selection efficiency Regulatory / Precise mutagenesis method without use of transgenic constructs | Short term: HT marketed outside EU Medium term: other types of traits |
| Genome editing: Sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) | Wide array (gene knock-out): HT; modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic (S genes) & abiotic, etc. | Off-target effects Regulatory & IPR / Precise mutagenesis method, could also be used by transient expression or "DNA-free" CRISPR variant relatively easily applied Genomics for gene functionality & identifying off- target effects | Short term: outside EU, one product considered outside of regulation by USDA-APHIS Medium term: CRISPR products |
| Genome editing: Sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): homologous recombination (HR) | Wide array (incl. new genes/promoters & stacking): HT; modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic (R genes) & abiotic, etc. "Gene drive" | Technically demanding: low HR efficiency (also for "gene drive") Off-target effects Regulatory / Precise method of mutagenesis/gene replacement or insertion at specified location/gene stacking Genomics for gene functionality & identifying off- target effects | Short term: proof of concept but no product marketed Medium term: possibly gene stacks; also allele replacement (latter still technically demanding) |

| Technique | Applications | Barriers | Horizon |
|--|---|---|---|
| | | / Drivers | |
| Plant transformation (new variants): Plant transformation with transgenes not in end product | Induced early flowering for accelerated breeding in fruit trees (wide array of traits, e.g. biotic stress); Suppression of meiotic recombination (reverse breeding), maintainer lines, or haploid inducers supporting hybrid breeding; transgenic rootstocks (wide array of traits, e.g. soil-borne stresses) | Regulatory / Increased efficiency of breeding without transgenic constructs in end product; could also be used by transient expression (virus vector) in early flowering | Short term: hybrid maintainer system used outside of EU; early flowering & transgenic rootstocks proof of concept but no product marketed yet Medium term: possibly haploid inducers |
| Plant transformation (new variants): Plant transformation introducing genes from cross-compatible species | Cisgenesis: genes from cross-compatible species, mainly R genes Intragenesis: novel combinations of genes & promoters from cross-compatible species: wide array of possibilities for changing gene expression levels and metabolic/developmental pathways | Cis limitation to "native" genes Regulatory / Cis use of "native" genes; intra wide possibilities (without introducing new genes) | Short term: cis one product deregulated outside EU, which is a stack with an intra RNAi variant already marketed outside of EU Medium term: possibly other cis & intra products marketed |
| RNAi: Post- transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) | Wide array (gene silencing): modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic & abiotic, etc. Special variant: tolerance biotic stress through "cross-kingdom RNA" | Silencing efficiency Off-target effects Alternative of topical application Regulatory (transgenic product) / Precise method of silencing gene expression, incl. "cross-kingdom", with dominant inheritance & potentially more subtle regulation of expression levels (as opposed to gene knockouts) Genomics for gene functionality & identifying off- target effects | Short term: intragenesis variants marketed outside of EU; a "cross-kingdom" RNAi variant deregulated in US and Canada Medium term: possibly more examples of "cross-kingdom" RNAi |

| Applications | Barriers | Horizon |
|--|---|--|
| | / Drivers | |
| Wide array (gene silencing): modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic & abiotic, male sterility for hybrid breeding etc. | Silencing efficiency & stability (with transgene removal) Off-target effects Regulatory (i.p. transgenic product variant) / Precise method of silencing gene expression & potentially more subtle regulation of expression levels (as opposed to gene knock-outs); also possibility of using virus vector not carried over through meiosis or possibility of regenerating epigenetically changed plant from non-GM part of grafted plant Genomics for gene functionality & identifying off-target effects & epigenetic stability | Short term: research phase, i.p. variant with transgene removal Medium term: possibly variants maintaining transgene |
| Introduction of novel pathways; "plant as factory" (pharmaceuticals/antibodies) Site-specific activators/repressors (targeted activation or repression of gene expression by artificial factors affecting transcription or inducing epigenetic changes using combinations of active domains with SSN-derived DNA-binding domains) Adapting CRISPR-Cas9 to targeting plant DNA viruses Synthetic chromosomes | Competitiveness with microbial systems & segregation from food chain for pharmaceuticals Regulatory (transgenic product) / Possibility of producing valuable compounds or plants for pharma, and bio-economy & - fortification | Short term: one pharmaceutical authorised Medium term: bio-fortification & possibly bio-economy variants; others in research phase, i.p. synthetic chromosomes |
| | Wide array (gene silencing): modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic & abiotic, male sterility for hybrid breeding etc. Introduction of novel pathways; "plant as factory" (pharmaceuticals/antibodies) Site-specific activators/repressors (targeted activation or repression of gene expression by artificial factors affecting transcription or inducing epigenetic changes using combinations of active domains with SSN-derived DNA-binding domains) Adapting CRISPR-Cas9 to targeting plant DNA viruses | Wide array (gene silencing): modified product quality; stress tolerances biotic & abiotic, male sterility for hybrid breeding etc. Off-target effects Regulatory (i.p. transgenic product variant) / Precise method of silencing gene expression & potentially more subtle regulation of expression levels (as opposed to gene knock-outs); also possibility of using virus vector not carried over through meiosis or possibility of regenerating epigenetically changed plant from non-GM part of grafted plant Genomics for gene functionality & identifying off- target effects & epigenetic stability Introduction of novel pathways; "plant as factory" (pharmaceuticals/antibodies) Site-specific activators/repressors (targeted activation or repression of gene expression by artificial factors affecting transcription or inducing epigenetic changes using combinations of active domains with SSN-derived DNA-binding domains) Adapting CRISPR-Cas9 to targeting plant DNA viruses |

| Technique | Applications | Barriers / | Horizon |
|--|---|---|--|
| Modifying gene expression with exogenous compounds | Gene silencing by topical application of dsRNA: | drivers Topical application could compete with transgenic RNAi versions above but likely in regulatory realm outside scope of present study Agro-inoculation mainly research tool "DNA-free" genome editing, see above | For most breeding companies outside of business model & outside scope of present study |
| Other: regenerating species hybrid from graft junction | Species cybrid or hybrid (potentially wide array of traits) | Regulatory (transgenic selection markers) / Possibly interesting development | Two publications, in research phase |
| Not addressed | Transforming plant pest insects; algae | | |

6. Abbreviations

Bt Bacillus thuringiensis toxin

CCE centromere-mediated chromosome elimination

 ${\it CRISPR-Cas\ clustered\ regularly\ interspaced\ short\ palindromic\ repeats-CRISPR-associated\ protein,\ a\ type\ of\ SSN}$

DSB double-strand break

dsRNA double-stranded RNA

GT gene targeting

HDR homology-driven repair

HIGS host-induced gene silencing

HR homologous recombination

HT herbicide tolerance

Indel insertion/deletion

miRNA microRNA

NGS next-generation sequencing

NHEJ non-homologous end joining

ODM oligo-directed mutagenesis

PTGS post-transcriptional gene silencing

RdDM RNA dependent DNA methylation

RNAi RNA interference

SDN site-directed nuclease, alternative name for SSN

siRNA small interfering RNA

SSN sequence-specific nuclease

TALEN transcription activator-like effector nuclease, a type of SSN

TGS transcriptional gene silencing

ZFN zinc finger nuclease, a type of SSN

7. References

- Abbott A (2015) Europe's genetically edited plants stuck in legal limbo. Nature 528:319-320
- Ainley WM, Sastry-Dent L, Welter ME, Murray MG, Zeitler B, Amora R, Corbin DR, Miles RR, Arnold NL, Strange TL, Simpson MA, Cao ZH, Carroll C, Pawelczak KS, Blue R, West K, Rowland LM, Perkins D, Samuel P, Dewes CM, Shen L, Sriram S, Evans SL, Rebar EJ, Zhang L, Gregory PD, Urnov FD, Webb SR, Petolino JF (2013) Trait stacking via targeted genome editing. Plant Biotechnol J 11:1126-1134
- Ali Z, Abulfaraj A, Idris A, Ali S, Tashkandi M, Mahfouz MM (2015) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated viral interference in plants. Genome Biology 16:238
- Ariel F, Romero-Barrios N, Jégu T, Benhamed M, Crespi M (2015) Battles and hijacks: noncoding transcription in plants. Trends in Plant Science 20:362-371
- Basak J, Nithin C (2015) Targeting non-coding RNAs in plants with the CRISPR-Cas technology is a challenge yet worth accepting. Frontiers in Plant Science 6:1001
- BASF (2012) BASF to concentrate plant biotechnology activities on main markets in North and South America. News Release, January 16, 2012
- Baum JA, Roberts JK (2014) Progress towards RNAi-mediated insect pest management. Advances in Insect Physiology 47:249-295
- Birchler JA (2015) Promises and pitfalls of synthetic chromosomes in plants. Trends in Biotechnology 33:189-194
- Blasco RB, Karaca E, Ambrogio C, Cheong TC, Karayol E, Minero VG, Voena C, Chiarle R (2014) Simple and rapid *in vivo* generation of chromosomal rearrangements using CRISPR/Cas9 technology. Cell Rep 9:1219-1227
- Bond DM, Baulcombe DC (2015) Epigenetic transitions leading to heritable, RNA-mediated de novo silencing in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112:917-922
- Bortesi L, Fischer R (2015) The CRISPR/Cas9 system for plant genome editing and beyond. Biotechnology advances 33:41-52
- Burand JP, Hunter WB (2013) RNAi: future in insect management. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 112:S68-S74
- Camacho A, Van Deynze A, Chi-Ham C, Bennett AB (2014) Genetically engineered crops that fly under the US regulatory radar. Nature Biotechnology 32:1087-1091
- Casacuberta JM, Devos Y, Jardin Pd, Ramon M, Vaucheret H, Nogue F (2015) Biotechnological uses of RNAi in plants: risk assessment considerations. Trends in Biotechnology 33:145-147
- Čermák T, Baltes NJ, Čegan R, Zhang Y, Voytas DF (2015) High-frequency, precise modification of the tomato genome. Genome Biology 16:232
- Chekanova JA (2015) Long non-coding RNAs and their functions in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 27:207-216
- Chen KL, Gao CX (2014) Targeted genome modification technologies and their applications in crop improvements. Plant Cell Reports 33:575-583
- Cheng W, Song X, Li H, Cao L, Sun K, Qiu X, Xu Y, Yang P, Huang T, Zhang J, Qu B, Liao Y (2015) Hostinduced gene silencing of an essential chitin synthase gene confers durable resistance to *Fusarium* head blight and seedling blight in wheat. Plant Biotechnol J 13:1335-1345
- Choi PS, Meyerson M (2014) Targeted genomic rearrangements using CRISPR/Cas technology. Nature Communications 5:3728
- Chougule NP, Li HR, Liu SJ, Linz LB, Narva KE, Meade T, Bonning BC (2013) Retargeting of the *Bacillus thuringiensis* toxin Cyt2Aa against hemipteran insect pests. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110:8465-8470
- Cigan AM, Haug-Collet K, Clapp J (2014) Transcriptional silencing of heterologous anther promoters in maize: a genetic method to replace detasseling for seed production. Plant Reproduction 27:109-120
- Clasen BM, Stoddard TJ, Luo S, Demorest ZL, Li J, Cedrone F, Tibebu R, Davison S, Ray EE, Daulhac A, Coffman A, Yabandith A, Retterath A, Haun W, Baltes NJ, Mathis L, Voytas DF, Zhang F (2015) Improving cold storage and processing traits in potato through targeted gene knockout. Plant Biotechnology Journal 14:169-176
- Cole-Strauss A, Yoon K, Xiang Y, Byrne BC, Rice MC, Gryn, J, Holloman WK *et al.* (1996) Correction of the mutations responsible for sickle cell anemia by an RNA-DNA oligonucleotide. Science 273:1386–1389
- De Vetten N, Wolters AM, Raemakers K, Meer Ivd, Stege Rt, Heeres E, Heeres P, Visser R (2003) A transformation method for obtaining marker-free plants of a cross-pollinating and vegetatively propagated crop. Nature Biotechnology 21:439-442
- Dirks R, van Dun K, de Snoo CB, van den Berg M, Lelivelt CLC, Voermans W, Woudenberg L, de Wit JPC, Reinink K, Schut JW, van der Zeeuw E, Vogelaar A, Freymark G, Gutteling EW, Keppel MN, van Drongelen P, Kieny M, Ellul P, Touraev A, Ma H, de Jong H, Wijnker E (2009) Reverse breeding: a novel breeding approach based on engineered meiosis. Plant Biotechnol J 7:837-845
- Eeckhaut T, Lakshmanan PS, Deryckere D, Van Bockstaele E, Van Huylenbroeck J (2013) Progress in plant protoplast research. Planta 238:991-1003
- EFSA GMO Panel (2012a) Scientific Opinion addressing the safety assessment of plants developed

- through cisgenesis and intragenesis. EFSA Journal 10:2561
- EFSA GMO Panel (2012b) Scientific opinion addressing the safety assessment of plants developed using Zinc Finger Nuclease 3 and other site-directed nucleases with similar function. EFSA Journal 10:2943
- Endo M, Toki S (2014) Toward establishing an efficient and versatile gene targeting system in plants. Biocatalystic and Agricultural Biotechnology 3:2-6
- Feuillet C, Leach JE, Rogers J, Schnable PS, Eversole K (2011) Crop genome sequencing: lessons and rationales. Trends in Plant Science 16:77-88
- Fichtner F, Castellanos RU, Ulker B (2014) Precision genetic modifications: a new era in molecular biology and crop improvement. Planta 239:921-939
- Flachowsky H, Roux PMI, Peil A, Patocchi A, Richter K, Hanke M (2011) Application of a high-speed breeding technology to apple (Malus x domestica) based on transgenic early flowering plants and marker-assisted selection. New Phytologist 192:364-377
- Fuentes I, Stegemann S, Golczyk H, Karcher D, Bock R (2014) Horizontal genome transfer as an asexual path to the formation of new species. Nature 511:232-235
- Gantz VM, Bier E (2015) The mutagenic chain reaction: A method for converting heterozygous to homozygous mutations. Science 348:442-444
- Gantz VM, Jasinskiene N, Tatarenkova O, Fazekas A, Macias VM, Bier E, James AA (2015) Highly efficient Cas9-mediated gene drive for population modification of the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles stephensi*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112:E6736-E6743
- Gocal GFW, Schopke C, Beetham PR (2015) Oligo-mediated targeted gene editing. In: Zhang F, Puchta H, Thomson JG (eds) Advances in new technology for targeted modification of plant genomes Chapter 5, pp. 73–90. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Verlag.
- Govindarajulu M, Epstein L, Wroblewski T, Michelmore RW (2015) Host-induced gene silencing inhibits the biotrophic pathogen causing downy mildew of lettuce. Plant Biotechnol J 13:875-883
- Haesaert G, Vossen JH, Custers R, Loose Md, Haverkort A, Heremans B, Hutten R, Kessel G, Landschoot S, Droogenbroeck Bv, Visser RGF, Gheysen G (2015) Transformation of the potato variety Desiree with single or multiple resistance genes increases resistance to late blight under field conditions. Crop Protection 77:163-175
- Han L, Luan Y (2015) Horizontal transfer of small RNAs to and from plants. Frontiers in Plant Science 6:1113
- Haun W, Coffman A, Clasen BM, Demorest ZL, Lowy A, Ray E, Retterath A, Stoddard T, Juillerat A, Cedrone F, Mathis L, Voytas DF, Zhang F (2014) Improved soybean oil quality by targeted mutagenesis of the fatty acid desaturase 2 gene family. Plant Biotechnology Journal 12:934-940
- Haverkort AJ, Boonekamp PM, Hutten R, Jacobsen E, Lotz LAP, Kessel GJT, Vossen JH, Visser RGF (2016)
 Durable late blight resistance in potato through dynamic varieties obtained by cisgenesis: scientific and societal advances in the DuRPh project. Potato Research:1-32
- Holme IB, Wendt T, Holm PB (2013) Intragenesis and cisgenesis as alternatives to transgenic crop development. Plant Biotechnol J 11:395-407
- Hu SL, Lübberstedt T (2015) Getting the 'MOST' out of crop improvement. Trends in Plant Science 20:372-379
- IRRI (2014) When will Golden Rice be available to farmers and consumers? http://irri.org/golden-rice/faqs/when-will-golden-rice-be-available-to-farmers-and-consumers
- Jacobsen E, Schouten HJ (2007) Cisgenesis strongly improves introgression breeding and induced translocation breeding of plants. Trends in Biotechnology 25:219-223
- James C (2014) Global status of commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2014. ISAAA Brief No. 49. ISAAA, Ithaca
- Jin SX, Singh ND, Li L, Zhang X, Daniell H (2015) Engineered chloroplast dsRNA silences *cytochrome p450 monooxygenase*, *V-ATPase* and *chitin synthase* genes in the insect gut and disrupts *Helicoverpa armigera* larval development and pupation. Plant Biotechnol J 13:435-446
- Juarez P, Virdi V, Depicker A, Orzaez D (2016) Biomanufacturing of protective antibodies and other therapeutics in edible plant tissues for oral applications. Plant Biotechnol J online early (DOI: 10.1111/pbi.12541)
- Kamthan A, Chaudhuri Á, Kamthan M, Datta A (2015) Small RNAs in plants: recent development and application for crop improvement. Frontiers in Plant Science 6:208
- Kasai A, Harada T (2015) Epimutant induction as a new plant breeding technology. JARQ, Japan Agricultural Research Quarterly 49:301-305
- Kasai M, Kanazawa A (2013) Induction of RNA-directed DNA methylation and heritable transcriptional gene silencing as a tool to engineer novel traits in plants. Plant Biotechnology 30:233-241
- Kim D, Bae S, Park J, Kim E, Kim S, Yu HR, Hwang J, Kim JI, Kim JS (2015) Digenome-seq: genome-wide profiling of CRISPR-Cas9 off-target effects in human cells. Nature Methods 12:237
- Kleinstiver BP, Pattanayak V, Prew MS, Tsai SQ, Nguyen NT, Zheng Z, Joung JK (2016) High-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. Nature 529:490-495
- Klocko AL, Ma C, Robertson S, Esfandiari E, Nilsson O, Strauss SH (2016) FT overexpression induces precocious flowering and normal reproductive development in *Eucalyptus*. Plant Biotechnol J 14:808-819

- Komor AC, Kim YB, Packer MS, Zuris JA, Liu DR (2016) Programmable editing of a target base in genomic DNA without double-stranded DNA cleavage Nature 533:420-424
- Krens FA, Salentijn EMJ, Schaart JG, Schouten HJ, Jacobsen E (2012) Current progress in trans- and cisgenic apple and strawberry breeding. Acta Horticulturae 941:37-48
- Krens FA, Schaart JG, Burgh AMvd, Tinnenbroek-Capel IEM, Groenwold R, Kodde LP, Broggini GAL, Gessler C, Schouten HJ (2015) Cisgenic apple trees; development, characterization, and performance. Frontiers in Plant Science 6:286
- Krieger EK, Allen E, Gilbertson LA, Roberts JK, Hiatt W, Sanders RA (2008) The Flavr Savr tomato, an early example of RNAi technology. HortScience 43:962-964
- Ladics GS, Bartholomaeus A, Bregitzer P, Doerrer NG, Gray A, Holzhauser T, Jordan M, Keese P, Kok E, Macdonald P, Parrott W, Privalle L, Raybould A, Rhee SY, Rice E, Romeis J, Vaughn J, Wal JM, Glenn K (2015) Genetic basis and detection of unintended effects in genetically modified crop plants.

 Transgenic Research 24:587-603
- Lee HJ, Kweon J, Kim E, Kim S, Kim JS (2012) Targeted chromosomal duplications and inversions in the human genome using zinc finger nucleases. Genome Res 22:539-548
- Li T, Liu B, Spalding MH, Weeks DP, Yang B (2012) High-efficiency TALEN-based gene editing produces disease-resistant rice 30:390-392
- Li ZS, Liu ZB, Xing AQ, Moon BP, Koellhoffer JP, Huang LX, Ward RT, Clifton E, Falco SC, Cigan AM (2015) Cas9-Guide RNA Directed Genome Editing in Soybean. Plant Physiology 169:960
- Liu WS, Stewart CN, Jr. (2015) Plant synthetic biology. Trends in Plant Science 20:309-317
- Liu X, Hao L, Li D, Zhu L, Hu S (2015b) Long non-coding RNAs and their biological roles in plants. Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics 13:137-147
- Lombardo L, Coppola G, Zelasco S (2016) New technologies for insect-resistant and herbicide-tolerant plants. Trends in Biotechnology 34:49-57
- Lusser M, Parisi C, Plan D, Rodríguez-Cerezo E (2011) New plant breeding techniques. State-of-the-art and prospects for commercial development. In: European Commission JRCDJ (ed) JRC Scientific and Technical Reports EUR 24760 EN. IPTS-JRC, Luxembourg, p 218
- Lusser M, Parisi C, Plan D, Rodríguez-Cerezo E (2012) FEATURE Deployment of new biotechnologies in plant breeding. Nature Biotechnology 30:231-239
- Mascia PN, Flavell RB (2004) Safe and acceptable strategies for producing foreign molecules in plants. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 7:189-195
- Matzke MA, Mosher RA (2014) RNA-directed DNA methylation: an epigenetic pathway of increasing complexity. Nature Reviews Genetics 15:394-408
- Nandy S, Zhao S, Pathak BP, Manoharan M, Srivastava V (2015) Gene stacking in plant cell using recombinases for gene integration and nucleases for marker gene deletion. BMC Biotechnology 15:93
- Naqvi S, Ramessar K, Farre G, Sabalza M, Miralpeix B, Twyman RM, Capell T, Zhu C, Christou P (2011) High-value products from transgenic maize. Biotechnology Advances 29:40-53
- Naqvi S, Zhu C, Farre G, Ramessar K, Bassie L, Breitenbach J, Perez Conesa D, Ros C, Sandmann G, Capell T, Christou P (2009) Transgenic multivitamin corn through biofortification of endosperm with three vitamins representing three distinct metabolic pathways. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106:7762-7767
- Osakabe Y, Osakabe K.(2015) Genome editing with engineered nucleases in plants. Plant Cell Physiology 56:389-400
- Paine JA, Shipton CA, Sunandha C, Howells RM, Kennedy MJ, Vernon G, Wright SY, Hinchliffe E, Adams JL, Silverstone AL, Drake R (2005) Improving the nutritional value of Golden Rice through increased pro-vitamin A content. Nature Biotechnology 23:482-487
- Parrott W, Chassy B, Ligon J, Meyer L, Petrick J, Zhou JG, Herman R, Delaney B, Levine M (2010)
 Application of food and feed safety assessment principles to evaluate transgenic approaches to gene modulation in crops. Food Chem Toxicol 48:1773-1790
- Patra D, Fasold M, Langenberger D, Steger G, Grosse I, Stadler PF (2014) PlantDARIO: web based quantitative and qualitative analysis of small RNA-seq data in plants. Frontiers in Plant Science 5:708
- Pavan S, Jacobsen E, Visser RGF, Bai Y (2010) Loss of susceptibility as a novel breeding strategy for durable and broad-spectrum resistance. Molecular Breeding 25:1-12
- Pioneer (2016) Seed production technology (SPT) process
 - (https://www.pioneer.com/CMRoot/pioneer/about global/our research/enabling technologies/enabling technologies sheets/tech spt 2016.pdf)
- Pontier D, Picart C, Roudier F, Garcia D, Lahmy S, Azevedo J, Alart E, Laudie M, Karlowski WM, Cooke R, Colot V, Voinnet O, Lagrange T (2012) NERD, a plant-specific GW protein, defines an additional RNAi-dependent chromatin-based pathway in *Arabidopsis*. Mol Cell 48:121-132
- Puchta (2016) Using CRISPR/Cas in three dimensions: towards synthetic plant genomes, transcriptomes and epigenomes. Plant Biotechnology Journal online early (DOI: 10.1111/tpj.13100)
- Puchta H, Fauser F (2013) Gene targeting in plants: 25 years later. International Journal of Developmental Biology 57:629-637
- Puchta H, Fauser F (2014) Synthetic nucleases for genome engineering in plants: prospects for a bright future. Plant Journal 78:727-741

- Ran FA, Cong L, Yan WX, Scott DA, Gootenberg JS, Kriz AJ, Zetsche B, Shalem O, Wu XB, Makarova KS, Koonin EV, Sharp PA, Zhang F (2015) In vivo genome editing using *Staphylococcus aureus* Cas9. Nature 520:186-U198
- Ravi M, Chan SWL (2010) Haploid plants produced by centromere-mediated genome elimination. Nature 464:615-618
- Rieseberg LH (2001) Chromosomal rearrangements and speciation. Trends Ecol Evol 16:351-358
 Robinson KE, Worrall EA, Mitter N (2014) Double stranded RNA expression and its topical application for non-transgenic resistance to plant viruses. Journal of Plant Biochemistry and Biotechnology 23:231-
- Rodriguez PL, Lozano-Juste J (2015) Unnatural agrochemical ligands for engineered abscisic acid receptors. Trends in Plant Science 20:330-332
- Rommens CM, Haring MA, Swords K, Davies HV, Belknap WR (2007) The intragenic approach as a new extension to traditional plant breeding. Trends in Plant Science 12:397-403
- Sanju S, Siddappa S, Thakur A, Shukla PK, Srivastava N, Pattanayak D, Sharma S, Singh BP (2015)
 Host-mediated gene silencing of a single effector gene from the potato pathogen *Phytophthora infestans* imparts partial resistance to late blight disease. Functional & Integrative Genomics 15:697-706
- Sauer NJ, Mozoruk J, Miller RB, Warburg ZJ, Walker KA, Beetham PR, Schöpke CR, Gocal GFW (2016) Oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis for precision gene editing. Plant Biotechnol J 14:496-502
- Schaart JG, Krens FA, Wolters AMA, Visser RGF (2011) Transformation methods for obtaining marker-free genetically modified plants. In: Stewart CN, Jr., Touraev A, Citovsky V, Tzfira T (eds) Plant transformation technologies. Wiley-Blackwell, Ames, pp 229-242
- Schaart JG, van de Wiel CC, Lotz LA, Smulders MJ (2015) Opportunities for Products of New Plant Breeding Techniques. Trends in Plant Science 21:438-449
- Senthil-Kumar M, Mysore KS (2011) Caveat of RNAi in plants: the off-target effect. In: Kodama H, Komamine A (eds) RNAi and Plant Gene Function Analysis: Methods and Protocols. Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, Totowa, NJ, pp 13-25
- Shreve JT, Shukle RH, Subramanyam S, Johnson AJ, Schemerhorn BJ, Williams CE, Stuart JJ (2013) A genome-wide survey of small interfering RNA and microRNA pathway genes in a galling insect. Journal of Insect Physiology 59:367-376
- Shukla VK, Doyon Y, Miller JC, DeKelver RC, Moehle EA, Worden SE, Mitchell JC, Arnold NL, Gopalan S, Meng XD, Choi VM, Rock JM, Wu YY, Katibah GE, Zhifang G, McCaskill D, Simpson MA, Blakeslee B, Greenwalt SA, Butler HJ, Hinkley SJ, Zhang L, Rebar EJ, Gregory PD, Urnov FD (2009) Precise genome modification in the crop species *Zea mays* using zinc-finger nucleases. Nature 459:437-441
- Slaymaker IM, Gao L, Zetsche B, Scott DA, Yan WX, Zhang F (2016) Rationally engineered Cas9 nucleases with improved specificity. Science 351:84-88
- Srinivasan C, Dardick C, Callahan A, Scorza R (2012) Plum (*Prunus domestica*) trees transformed with poplar *FT1* result in altered architecture, dormancy requirement, and continuous flowering. PLoS ONE 7:e40715
- Srivastava V, Thomson J (2016) Gene stacking by recombinases. Plant Biotechnol J 14:471-482 Stegemann S, Bock R (2009) Exchange of genetic material between cells in plant tissue grafts. Science 324:649-651
- Stewart CN, Jr., Prakash CS (1998) Chloroplast-transgenic plants are not a gene flow panacea. Nature Biotechnology 16:401
- Svitashev S, Young JK, Schwartz C, Gao HR, Falco SC, Cigan AM (2015) Targeted mutagenesis, precise gene editing, and site-specific gene insertion in maize using Cas9 and guide RNA. Plant Physiology 169:931-945
- Templeton K, Bryant C, Biswas M, Gill G, Bajaj S, Sathish P, Hanley Z (2008) Drought-tolerance in perennial ryegrass: a cisgenic approach. Multifunctional grasslands in a changing world, Volume II. Guangdong People's Publishing House, Guangzhou, p 358
- Thakore PI, Black JB, Hilton IB, Gersbach CA (2016) Editing the epigenome: technologies for programmable transcription and epigenetic modulation. Nat Meth 13:127-137
- Van Acker R, Leple JC, Aerts D, Storme V, Goeminne G, Ivens B, Legee F, Lapierre C, Piens K, Montagu MCEv, Santoro N, Foster CE, Ralph J, Soetaert W, Pilate G, Boerjan W (2014) Improved saccharification and ethanol yield from field-grown transgenic poplar deficient in cinnamoyl-CoA reductase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111:845-850
- Van de Wiel CCM, Schaart J, Niks R, Visser R (2010) Traditional plant breeding methods. Wageningen UR Plant Breeding, Wageningen, Report 338, p 40 + 19
- VIB (2014) Een schimmelresistente aardappel voor België. VIB Facts Series, p 38
- Virdi KS, Laurie JD, Xu YZ, Yu JT, Shao MR, Sanchez R, Kundariya H, Wang D, Riethoven JJM, Wamboldt Y, Arrieta-Montiel MP, Shedge V, Mackenzie SA (2015) *Arabidopsis* MSH1 mutation alters the epigenome and produces heritable changes in plant growth. Nature Communications 6:6386
- Wang YP, Cheng X, Shan QW, Zhang Y, Liu JX, Gao CX, Qiu JL (2014) Simultaneous editing of three homoeoalleles in hexaploid bread wheat confers heritable resistance to powdery mildew. Nature Biotechnology 32:947-951
- Wijnker E, Dun Kv, Snoo CBd, Lelivelt CLC, Keurentjes JJB, Nazatul Shima N, Ravi M, Chan SWL, Jong

- Hd, Dirks R (2012) Reverse breeding in *Arabidopsis thaliana* generates homozygous parental lines from a heterozygous plant. Nature Genetics 44:467-470
- Woo JW, Kim J, Kwon SI, Corvalan C, Cho SW, Kim H, Kim SG, Kim ST, Choe S, Kim JS (2015) DNA-free genome editing in plants with preassembled CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoproteins. Nature Biotechnology 33:1162-1164
- Wu Y, Fox TW, Trimnell MR, Wang L, Xu R-j, Cigan AM, Huffman GA, Garnaat CW, Hershey H, Albertsen MC (2016) Development of a novel recessive genetic male sterility system for hybrid seed production in maize and other cross-pollinating crops. Plant Biotechnol J 14:1046-1054
- Xiang Y, Cole-Strauss A, Yoon K, Gryn J, Kmiec EB (1997) Targeted gene conversion in a mammalian CD34+-enriched cell population using a chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotide. Journal of Molecular Medicine 75:829–835
- Xuan H, Zhang L, Liu X, Han G, Li J, Li X, Liu A, Liao M, Zhang S (2015) PLNIncRbase: a resource for experimentally identified IncRNAs in plants. Gene 573:328-332
- Yamagishi N, Kishigami R, Yoshikawa N (2014) Reduced generation time of apple seedlings to within a year by means of a plant virus vector: a new plant-breeding technique with no transmission of genetic modification to the next generation. Plant Biotechnol J 12:60-68
- Yang F, Mitra P, Zhang L, Prak L, Verhertbruggen Y, Kim JS, Sun L, Zheng K, Tang K, Auer M, Scheller HV, Loque D (2013) Engineering secondary cell wall deposition in plants. Plant Biotechnol J 11:325-335
- Yang X, Kundariya H, Xu YZ, Sandhu A, Yu JT, Hutton SF, Zhang M, Mackenzie SA (2015) MutS HOMOLOG1-derived epigenetic breeding potential in tomato. Plant Physiology 168:222-232
- Yao S (2011) "FasTracking" plum breeding. Agricultural Research 59:16-17
- Ye JS, Shakya R, Shrestha P, Rommens CM (2010) Tuber-specific silencing of the acid invertase gene substantially lowers the acrylamide-forming potential of potato. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 58:12162-12167
- Zhang J, Khan SA, Hasse C, Ruf S, Heckel DG, Bock R (2015) Full crop protection from an insect pest by expression of long double-stranded RNAs in plastids. Science 347:991-994
- Zhao DY, Song GQ (2014) Rootstock-to-scion transfer of transgene-derived small interfering RNAs and their effect on virus resistance in nontransgenic sweet cherry. Plant Biotechnol J 12:1319-1328
- Zhou HB, Liu B, Weeks DP, Spalding MH, Yang B (2014) Large chromosomal deletions and heritable small genetic changes induced by CRISPR/Cas9 in rice. Nucleic Acids Research 42:10903-10914
- Zhu C, Naqvi S, Breitenbach J, Sandmann G, Christou P, Capell T (2008) Combinatorial genetic transformation generates a library of metabolic phenotypes for the carotenoid pathway in maize. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:18232-18237
- Zhu T, Mettenburg K, Peterson DJ, Tagliani L, Baszczynski CL (2000) Engineering herbicide-resistant maize using chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotides. Nature Biotechnology 18:555-558

8. Annex

Table 1. List of new techniques and/or developments in plant ("green") biotechnology as used in the interviews.

| Theme | Techniques | Mode of action/examples | Special |
|---|---|--|--|
| Genome editing | ODM oligo-directed mutagenesis | inducing DNA-corrections by a homology-dependent repair mechanism using oligonucleotides with mismatches as template: indels, nucleotide substitutions | |
| Genome editing | Sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): non- homologous end joining (NHEJ) | inducing double strand breaks (DSBs) resulting in homologous- independent DNA repair by NHEJ using SSNs (ZFN, Meganuclease, TALENS, CRISPR-Cas9): indels, nucleotide substitutions | variant: non- transgenic genome editing (by delivery of protein or transient expression into cells) |
| Genome editing | Sequence-specific nucleases (SSNs): homologous recombination (HR) | inducing double strand breaks (DSBs) resulting in homologous- driven repair by HR using SSNs: targeted gene insertion, allele replacement | |
| Plant transformation (new variants) | Plant transformation with transgenes not in end products | Induced early flowering for accelerated breeding in fruit trees; suppression of meiotic recombination for reverse (hybrid) breeding; transgenic rootstocks | |
| Plant transformation (new variants) | Plant transformation introducing genes from cross-compatible species | Cisgenesis: introduction of genes from same or cross-compatible species Intragenesis: introduction of novel combinations of genes & promoters from same or cross-compatible species | |
| RNAi | Post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS) | overexpression of gene-derived inverted repeats (dsRNA) for silencing gene expression: degradation of mRNA or translational repression directed by siRNAs or miRNAs | "Cross-kingdom RNAi": RNAi against pests and pathogens (host induced gene silencing HIGS) Special variants using transformed rootstock to deliver siRNA to non-GM scion |

| RNAi | Transcriptional gene silencing (TGS) | gene silencing by promoter methylation induced by dsRNA from transgene subsequently removed from end product (RdDM) | Special variants: Induced using virus not carried over through meiosis. Mobile small RNAs moving between shoot & root (grafted plants, possibility of regenerating epigenetically changed plant from non-GM part) |
|--------------------|--|--|---|
| Synthetic biology | | Synthetic chromosomes Site-specific activators/repressors (targeted activation or repression of gene expression by artificial factors affecting transcription or inducing epigenetic changes using combinations of active domains with SSN DNA-binding domains) Introduction of novel pathways; "plant as factory" (pharmaceuticals/antibodies) Adapting CRISPR-Cas9 to targeting plant DNA viruses | |
| Method of delivery | Modifying gene expression without transformation | Gene silencing by application of dsRNA: to plant (parts); to insects/pathogens Agro-inoculation, VIGS non-transgenic genome editing (by SSN delivery as protein or transient expression in cells) | Special variant: early flowering by promoting or silencing gene expression through virus vector not transmitted to progeny |
| Other | | regenerating species hybrid from graft junction | |

Questions per technique/concept:

- 1. What is your expectation for commercial applications/product development? What types of products can be expected?
 - 1.1. Short term
 - 1.2. Medium term. Do you expect any new developments/refinements? What could be the contribution of supporting technologies such as genomics/Next Generation Sequencing to new developments?
- 2. What do you see as drivers and what as barriers for application?
 - 2.1. Drivers
 - 2.2. Barriers
- 3. Finally, are any new developments/technologies missing in this list?